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Report from the Chair  
Professor David Maguire, Vice Chancellor, University of Greenwich 

 

This past year, 2016/17, has been characterised by intense uncertainty for UK education and research. As the 

Higher Education and Research Act 2017 comes into effect (the first major regulatory reform to the UK higher 

education sector in 25 years), the sector is preparing for the arrival of two new regulatory and funding bodies in 

2018:  the Office for Students (OfS) and UK Research and Innovation (UKRI).   

Further education is also anticipating major changes to funding with further decentralisation and devolvement 

for adult funding, resulting in fully localised funding by 2019. With the fifth and final wave of area reviews 

completed in England, implementation of the changes has been underway and many colleges either have 

merged or are facing merger scenarios. It has also been a significant time for apprenticeships with the 

apprenticeship levy coming into force which has accelerated interest. 

Uncertainty around Brexit continues and its potential impact on many levels, from funding to staffing.  

Meanwhile, of course, technological change continues apace.  

Jisc is supporting UK education and research as it faces all these developments. We are responding to the 

shifting sands of our sectors with a strengthened technology offer based on the needs and wants of our 

members. 

We have continued to invest in our significant upgrade to the Janet Network, including the provision of 

additional network security and resilience. As a result, we have achieved increased capacity and lower costs.  We 

also provide invaluable advice and guidance on key issues for our sectors, including e-privacy. 

Brokering agreements for access to digital content continues to be an important part of our offer. To highlight 

just two examples, in 16/17 we negotiated one of the largest journal agreements in the UK, offering subscription 

access to 2116 journals on Elsevier’s ScienceDirect online platform and launched free access to e-books to 

support English and Maths teaching for FE learners re-sitting GCSEs. 

Shared services development has been key this year and we have focused on the areas with the greatest impact 

for our member universities and colleges. With our work on data analytics we are helping our members explore 

and understand their data. Our pilot research data shared service is helping researchers and institutions to meet 

their policy requirements for the deposit and curation of research data. We set up a new group-purchasing pilot 

with publishers to lower the cost of digital archival collections.  

Cyber security is of critical importance to our members. We launched the simulated phishing and training service, 

to help our members to reduce the risks from phishing attacks, and the SafeShare service, to enable authorised 

researchers to access and share data safely and securely over the network. The Distributed Denial of Service 

(DDoS) facility has prevented almost all DDoS attacks since its inception.  We launched the DDoS portal to give 

members a view of the mitigation and attack activity for their organisation. 

 



Jisc Trustees’ Report and Financial Statements 

Year ended 31 July 2017  

Jisc Trustees’ Report and Financial Statements for the year ended 31 July 2017                                                                                                                      4 

 

This year also saw the publication of the findings and recommendations of Sir David Bell’s review of the UK 

higher education sector agencies landscape, launched in March 2016 by Universities UK and GuildHE. We 

welcomed the report, which is designed to make sure that, along with other agencies, we’re adapting to provide 

the most effective and efficient support for the sector while it goes through change. We share David Bell’s 

opinion that data is at the heart of what universities deliver and we believe that this data, used well, can 

transform the higher education experience. We are working collaboratively with the other sector data agencies 

to explore innovative ways to use data for this purpose. We also continue to work with publishers on behalf of UK 

universities and researchers to develop faster, more cost-effective routes to accessing academic research – 

something we were glad to see highlighted. 

Amid all the uncertainty faced by our members, we've been listening and engaging to better understand their 

needs. We consulted our members in higher education about our subscription model to ensure it provides them 

with value and choice, and shaped the subscription model as a result of the consultation process. We have also 

been focusing on developing our membership offer for alternative providers and supporting colleges with 

technology transformation. 

As this report shows, Jisc is a crucial part of the higher education, further education and skills arenas.  On behalf 

of the Board I would like to thank our members and stakeholders for their continued support and encouragement 

in enabling Jisc to continue to power the UK’s higher and further education’s teaching, learning and research and 

to inspire its digital transformation. 

 

 

Professor David Maguire 

30 November 2017 
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Strategic Report 
The Trustees present their strategic report for the year ending 31 July 2017. 

Our vision 

Delivering our vision 

To achieve our vision, each day we will continue to power the UK’s higher and further education’s teaching, 

learning and research and inspire its digital transformation.  The following sections describe how we do this and 

our strategy for 2016-19 describes the five key ways we are driving the digital transformation of teaching, 

learning and research in the UK (see Jisc Strategy 2016-19 section on page 9). 

Charitable purpose and public benefit 

Jisc is a registered charity and as such, its purposes must be exclusively charitable.  A charitable purpose is a 

purpose which comes within the descriptions listed in the Charities Act 2011 and which is for the public benefit.  

The Charity Commission says that to advance education means to “promote, sustain and increase individual and 

collective knowledge and understanding of study, skills and expertise” and that the types of charity capable of 

advancing education include “organisations supporting the work of educational establishments”.   

Jisc’s charitable objectives are specifically restricted to the advancement of education for the public benefit 

through the provision to the Education, Learning and Research Community in the United Kingdom and 

elsewhere.  Further details including the key areas are listed in its articles of association, which can be found at 

https://www.jisc.ac.uk/about/corporate/company-and-charity-details. 

We support the higher education and further education and skills sectors.  How we do this is embedded through 

this report, in particular, fuller information on Jisc’s purposes and activities is included in the “What we do” 

section of this report below. 

In everything they do, Jisc’s trustees are aware of the public benefit requirements of Jisc’s charitable status, 

including the Charity Commission’s guidance on public benefit. 

Charity registration in Scotland 

Under the Charities and Trustee Investment (Scotland) Act 2005 (the 2005 Act), all organisations wishing to 

represent themselves as charities in Scotland need to register with the Office of the Scottish Charity Regulator 

(OSCR). While Jisc is not managed or controlled wholly or mainly in Scotland, Jisc meets the following criteria 

required for registration as defined by the 2005 Act: 

Our vision is for the UK to be the most digitally advanced higher and 

further education and research nation in the world 



Jisc Trustees’ Report and Financial Statements 

Year ended 31 July 2017  

Jisc Trustees’ Report and Financial Statements for the year ended 31 July 2017                                                                                                                      6 

 

 It has a presence in Scotland (i.e. it has an office base and staff working in an office as well as home-

based staff); 

 Its activities are of a frequent and ongoing nature; 

 The overall impact of Jisc’s activities is significant. 

To be accepted as a charity in Scotland, Jisc must pass the charity test as well as demonstrate that it provides 

public benefit in Scotland or elsewhere.  An application has been submitted to OSCR for charitable status and a 

decision is awaited. 

What we do 
 We provide and advise on digital technologies and content for UK education and research.  

 We assist the educational providers in the sectors we serve to deliver against their own strategic 

priorities to be efficient, effective and world-leading education and research institutions.   

 We help our sectors to remain competitive in a global marketplace by enabling access to innovative 

services and technologies. Many of these are unique to the UK. We alone can deliver them as a central 

source of infrastructure and innovation.   

 We fulfil the demand for innovation in teaching, learning and research by working with our sectors to 

identify their needs and building solutions for the benefit of the whole sector. 

Further information on our innovation process can be found in the Research and Development segment of the 

strategy 2016-19 section on page 10 of this report.  

Activities and achievements 2016-17 

Our vision and the key activities through which we deliver it are supported by Jisc (the charity) and its two 

subsidiary companies (Jisc Services Limited and Jisc Commercial Limited) working together across the group 

structure. Further information on the Jisc group structure can be found in the Corporate structure section on 

page 18.  This activity is managed across the group structure and not segmented according to company. 

Throughout 2016-17 we have continued to deliver against our four main areas of activity highlighted above, we 

have focused on eight further priority areas (see Priority activities 2016-17 on page 9) and made good progress 

against our strategy for 2016-19 (see Jisc Strategy 2016-19 on page 9).   

Shared services 

Some of the highlights of our shared digital infrastructure and services during 2016-17 are: 

 

 

 

 

 

govroam: govroam provides a network roaming service for the public sector that is 

equivalent to eduroam. Following the success of the govroam early adopter service that 

started in September 2016, a full govroam service was launched in July 2017 
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Agreements negotiated on behalf of our sectors 

Agreements negotiated on behalf of our sectors in 2016-17 included: 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

English and Maths resources for FE: We launched free access to 23 relevant, high quality e-

books that support English and Maths teaching for learners resitting GCSEs in the subjects. 

A further 15 titles were added in August 2017 

Digital collections:  We set up a new group-purchasing pilot with publishers to lower the 

cost of digital archival collections 

 

Cyber security: We launched the simulated phishing and training service, to help our 

members to reduce the risks from phishing attacks, and the SafeShare service, to enable 

authorised researchers to access and share data safely and securely over the network. The 

Distributed Denial of Service (DDoS) service has prevented almost all DDoS attacks since 

its launch.  The DDoS portal has also been launched to give members a view of the 

mitigation and attack activity for their organisation. 

 

UK Medical Heritage Library collection: We launched 15m pages of medical history books 

digitised by Jisc in partnership with the Wellcome Trust 

 

Janet connectivity. We boosted the Janet Network, which serves 18 million users 

worldwide and provides UK research and education with a reliable, high capacity, world-

class network, and achieved increased capacity and lower costs. Our external traffic use 

reached its highest ever level of 450Gbit/s during one point in May 2017, which we 

accommodated comfortably 

 

Elsevier:  We negotiated one of the largest journal agreements in the UK - a five-year, opt-

in agreement offering subscription access to around 2,116 journals on Elsevier’s 

ScienceDirect online platform with price increases  

capped at a lower level than in previous years 
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Trusted advice and practical guidance 

We provided advice and guidance to our sectors in 2016-17 in some of the following ways: 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

A number of other key activities outside these areas have been a focus of attention in 2016-17. In particular, we 

consulted our members in HE about our subscription model to ensure it provides them with value and choice.  

We shaped the subscription model as a result of the consultation process and we shared the outcomes with the 

sector in spring 2017.  The messages we received through the consultation are embedded within our Key 

priorities and performance indicators 2017-18 on page 13 of this report. 

In 2016-17 we have also been focusing on developing our membership offer for alternative providers.  We are 

trialling the offer with a small number of providers to ensure that it meets their needs before expanding to 

support all appropriate alternative provision. We have developed a charging structure that takes into account the 

market price, the marginal cost and the desired contribution to the underlying overheads of running Jisc.  

  

Cyber security - We provided a coordination role for the sector with government and 

security experts during the WannaCry crisis and a more hands-on role during the 

ransomware outbreak in HE.  We continue to reinforce our sector leadership and protection 

role in cyber security  

Digital leaders: Our programme to support the development of digital leaders explores and 

challenges the role of leadership across a broad range of digital-related issues and the way 

they influence organisational strategy and individual practice 

FE mergers: We have created a new merger support package for FE members who are 

embarking on major organisational change as a result of area reviews 
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Strategy 2016-19 
Jisc has a strategy for 2016-19.  The strategy guides our activity and our priorities for 2017-18. We will: 

 

Our strategy is underpinned by supporting strategies which delve further into the detail of how we work to 

support HE, FE and skills, learning and teaching, research, libraries and technology infrastructure, both nationally 

and internationally. Further information on our 2017-18 priorities to deliver the Jisc strategy are included in the 

Plans for Future Periods and key performance indicators section on page 13 of this report. 

Priority activities and progress against key performance indicators 2016-17 

The following priority areas provided focus of activity in 2016-17 in support of our strategy:   

 The Northern data centre is in full service with Leeds, Sheffield, Sheffield Hallam and Liverpool 

universities as anchor tenants.   

 The Distributed Denial of Service protection service is in operation, with further work to strengthen the 

service underway. 

 A common approach has been developed to the management of products and services. 

 We developed and exceed benchmarks for member satisfaction in FE and undertook a consultation in HE 

regarding future subscriptions. 

Continue to develop the Janet Network, the foremost 
national research and education network in the world

Focus our products on the areas that make the most 
difference to learners, teachers and researchers and 

offer solutions tailored to the unique challenges of the 
education and research sectors

Increase our profile with sectors, stakeholders, key 
influencers and members ensuring that they recognise 

the value and benefit of Jisc to them and our 
contributions to the sector

Build a strong, financially sustainable, position

Operating to high standards of efficiency and 
effectiveness, be recognised as the leading sector 

agency in the UK and internationally with motivated, 
passionate staff and satisfied members
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 Whilst the financial targets set for Jisc Commercial Limited were missed substantially, the lessons 

learned from this activity led to a series of changes in our approach to revenue generation through Jisc 

Commercial Limited which are described in the Jisc Commercial Limited section on page 41 of this 

report. Note that these financial targets were significant for Jiscom, but not material to the Group.    

 We achieved an unrestricted surplus for FY 16/17 of £1.7m and realised savings in the 2017-18 budget.  

Further information is available under the Financial Performance and Strategy section on page 11 of this 

report. 

 There has been a greater focus on making sure our membership campaign and work builds momentum. 

Through increased marketing and communications effort to reach a wider audience across leaders, 

managers and consumers, we expect to capture a robust view of familiarity (by product satisfaction 

tracking and the introduction of a perception tracker) in 2017/18. 

 A new and consistent approach to performance review, objective setting and performance related pay 

has been embedded. 

 A new behavioural framework has been developed which will help bring to life our values of pace, 

passion, pride, trust and teamwork.   

 Our staff are emphatically more satisfied to be working at Jisc, demonstrated through quarterly 

temperature checks.  

Research and development 

Our research and development work (https://www.jisc.ac.uk/rd) identifies emerging technologies and develops 

them around the particular needs of our sectors, driven by our sector visions (https://www.jisc.ac.uk/rd/how-

we-innovate/visions) for how technology will transform research and education by 2020-2030. 

We identified six challenges from the visions:  

 What does the imminent arrival of the intelligent campus mean for universities and colleges? 

 What should the next generation of digital learning environments do? 

 What should a next-generation research environment look like? 

 Which skills do people need to prepare for research practice now and in the future? 

 What would truly digital apprenticeships look like? 

 How can we use data to improve teaching and learning? 

We launched a consultation to start a wide-ranging discussion around the challenges that could result in tangible 

ideas that we could develop into new services for our members.  The outcome of the consultation was a shortlist 

of five exciting ideas that will be the basis of future work: 

 Intelligent campus 

 Digital apprenticeships 

https://www.jisc.ac.uk/rd
https://www.jisc.ac.uk/rd/how-we-innovate/visions
https://www.jisc.ac.uk/rd/how-we-innovate/visions
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 Next-generation learning environments 

 Research skills 

 Next-generation research environments 

The majority of our research and development effort over the past year has been concentrated on three big 

areas:  

 digital capability - building capability for new digital leadership, pedagogy and efficiency 

 analytics – helping our members analyse and understand their data 

 research data shared service – helping researchers and institutions to meet their policy requirements 

for the deposit and curation of research data. 

Financial Performance and Strategy 
This report and the accompanying financial statements have been prepared in accordance with Financial 

Reporting Standard 102 and Charity SORP (FRS 102). 

Income and Expenditure  

Income for the year was £133.0m (2016: £130.9m), an increase of £2.1m. This comprises £106.2m and £26.8m of 

unrestricted funds and restricted funds respectively (2016: £104.9m and £26.0m respectively).  The year-on-year 

increase in income being due to an increase in income from charitable activities of £1.7m, and trading income of 

£1.5m, offset by a reduction in grant income of £1.2m. 

Income of £76.9m (2016: £78.1m) was core funding received from the United Kingdom funding bodies for higher 

and further education. Income from charitable activities, which includes funding that flows through from Jisc 

into Jisc Services Limited, was £43.7m (2016: £42.0m). Income from other trading activities was £11.8m 

(2016:£10.3m). Investment income was £0.6m (2016: £0.5m). 

Expenditure for year was £133.0m (2016: £136.8m), a decrease of £3.8m, this was principally due to lower 

expenditure on restricted charitable activities; £17.3m (2016: £20.5m). 

Of the total £133.0m expenditure, £128.7m (2016: £130.5m) was used on charitable activities, a further 

breakdown is available in note 8 (page 58). 

In compliance with the Charities SORP (FRS 102), a transfer between restricted and unrestricted funds to account 

for assets purchased in year using those funds has been shown separately in the income and expenditure account 

(page 48). This amounts to £10.7m (2016: £11.0m).   

Importantly, the surplus on unrestricted activities after this transfer is £1.7m (2016: £1.2m). This is in line with 

management’s expectations. 

There was reduction in the restricted funds of £1.8m due to expenditure being incurred on projects for which 

funds had been previously received. 
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Balance Sheet 

Jisc has maintained a robust balance sheet, with total funds of £101.8m (2016: £101.9m) and a cash balance of 

£86.9m (2016: £84.5m) at 31 July 2017. 

The funds of £101.8m comprised £84.2m of unrestricted funds (2016: £82.5m) and £17.6m of restricted funds 

(2016: £19.3m). Of the unrestricted funds £37.5m is within designated funds, such as grant funded assets. The 

remaining £46.7m can be deemed as general unrestricted. 

Restricted Funds 

Jisc has consolidated restricted funds of £17.6m. These funds, which are subject to special terms specified by the 

grantors can only be used for the purpose to which they are given and the trustees fully intend to utilise these 

funds. They do not form part of Jisc’s reserves available for day to day use. Jisc sets aside cash to cover these 

funds. See full breakdown in note 23 (page 68). 

Unrestricted funds 

The starting point for assessing the amount of reserves held of any charity, including Jisc, is normally the amount 

of unrestricted funds held. Part of the unrestricted funds of a charity, however, may not always be readily 

available for spending. These are: 

 Tangible assets: the Charities SORP (FRS102) specifically allows funds held against grant-funded 

tangible fixed assets for charity use to be excluded from general unrestricted reserves. This 

recognizes that certain assets will be used operationally and their disposal may adversely impact on a 

charity's ability to deliver its aims. At 31 July 2017 these amounted to £27.2m (2016: £27.4m). 

 Programme-related investments (paid prepayments) where a charity makes programme-

related investments solely to further its charitable purposes, then such investments can be 

excluded from unrestricted reserves. At 31 July 2017 these amounted to £4.9m (2016: £6.0m) 

 Designated funds: where unrestricted funds are earmarked or designated for essential future 

spending, for example, to fund a project that could not be met from future income alone they can be 

excluded from general unrestricted reserves. For Jisc on a consolidated basis, at 31 July 2017, these 

elements amounted to pension contributions £4.5m (2016: £4.9m) and a restructuring fund of £0.9m 

(2016: £0.4m). 

The balance of Jisc’s unrestricted funds is £46.7m: this is Jisc’s “general unrestricted” reserve. This is broken 

down between a short-term self-funding buffer of four months required to cover operations in the event that 

normal funding receipts were delayed which equates to £38.4m, and the balance of £8.3m, which represents 

funds being used on Jisc’s priority projects. 

A provision of £5.8m (2016: £5.5m) was recognised on the group’s balance sheet. This provision represents an 

estimate of Jisc’s share of the total USS pension deficit described below in line with the USS guidance, as per 

Jisc’s contractual obligation. This  increase of £0.3m is a part-crystallisation of the previously established 

designated unrestricted reserve of £4.9m at 31 July 2016. There remains an additional designated unrestricted 
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reserve at 31 July 2017 of £4.5m (2016: £4.9m) in relation to additional costs believed needed for future USS 

deficit contribution plans. 

The consolidated unrestricted reserve increase in the year of £1.7m is 1.6% of unrestricted income. 

Cash 

The Group’s cash position for 31 July 2017 was £69.3m, excluding restricted funds. The need for £38.4m of this is 

made up of the 4 months cover as discussed above. 

2017-18 Budget 

A Budget has been approved by the Board for Jisc for the 2017-18 year. 

An overall surplus of £1.4m is predicted for 2017-18. This has two major components. Expenditure exceeding 

income by £0.9m on restricted activities is as a consequence of Jisc spending against previously recognised 

income. A £2.3m surplus on unrestricted funds reflect expected net cost savings across Jisc. 

Financial Forecast 

A financial forecast has been prepared that also looks ahead to 2019-20. The forecast is part of Jisc’s strategic 

response to a range of future scenarios. Jisc will be working to develop further medium term projections and 

models. The financial forecast has, in addition to the secured savings to date, included further savings and 

efficiencies identified.  

Plans for future periods and key performance indicators 
Our strategy for 2016-19 continues to guide our activities and focus our resources.  In developing our priorities for 

2017-18, we have built on the significant progress made against our strategy in 2016-17 and identified tangible 

indicators to demonstrate our progress.   

We have streamlined our strategic reporting to enhance the progress reporting against our range of initiatives, 

key performance indicators and business as usual activities. 

Key priorities and performance indicators 2017-18 

In 2017-18, we will be prioritising the following: 

i. We are going to streamline our network management systems, save money through revising the 

architecture and review charging for additional connections. We will finish implementing product 

portfolio management, develop clear propositions and evidence of value for members and 

customers. 

ii. We have challenging targets for take-up of the new services that we will be introducing in 2017-18 

and they will become important new elements in our portfolio. 



Jisc Trustees’ Report and Financial Statements 

Year ended 31 July 2017  

Jisc Trustees’ Report and Financial Statements for the year ended 31 July 2017                                                                                                                      14 

 

iii. We will be focusing on building member satisfaction levels that will lead to retaining 100% of the 

current membership as well as attracting alternative providers and strengthening our position with 

further education providers.  

iv. We will be deepening our relationships with policymakers and funders, including establishing 

effective working relationships with UK Research and Innovation (UKRI) and Office for Students 

(OfS) as these organisations are formed. 

v. We will be emphasising a cost-saving culture in Jisc, and improving our forecasting. 

vi. We will be increasing our income from sales of products and services both to members and to 

commercial customers to supplement the traditional sources. We are aiming to create continuous 

improvement in leadership and management through our culture and decision-making, leading to an 

increase in staff engagement and satisfaction. 

vii. To support improvements in our effectiveness and efficiency we will be introducing new process and 

systems in Finance and People Services and a new website and e-commerce system for Jisc 

Collections. 

viii. We will be developing our business intelligence functions to support management decision-making 

and ensuring our information security and GDPR compliance will meet the necessary standards. 
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Principal risks and uncertainties 
Our 2017-18 strategy and priorities are aimed at strengthening Jisc to deal with major changes in the world in 

which we operate so that we can continue to serve our members in the long term. We are managing changes 

that create four overarching risks to our ability to serve our members: 

• Adapting successfully to major changes in the way we are funded, and especially potential changes in 

the amount and the structure of central government funding 

• Maintaining the confidence of our members, funders and customers in the value of Jisc itself and the 

value and quality of our services 

• Ensuring that what we offer our members remains highly relevant to their needs and that members are 

willing to see us change, develop and innovate to sustain that relevance 

• Ensuring that we are efficient and productive in all areas of our operations and that our members can 

be confident we are 

The actions we need to take to deal with these four risks include ones that exploit areas in which we are strong 

and strengthen areas where we are weaker. 

Strategic risk register 

A review of the current strategic risk register has been undertaken to ensure that it appropriately reflects the key 

activities included in our strategy 2016-19 and our priorities for 2017-18.  A summary of key risks and mitigating 

actions is shown in the table below:   

Annual priority Risk Future key mitigations 

1. Sustain a world-class, 

cost effective Janet 

Network that is able 

to continue to meet 

demand 

Members and customers seek network 

provision elsewhere 

Ensure the value of our network and cyber-

security services are sufficiently expressed  

2. Have a portfolio of 

products and services 

that enables our 

members to meet 

their strategic aims 

The services offered by Jisc may not 

meet the immediate and future needs of 

members, particularly the FE and Skills 

sector 

Resourcing, development and implementation 

of strategies for key sectors of Jisc's 

membership interest (FE & skills, Learning & 

teaching, Research, and International) 

 

Have a clear product set for all types of 

member and customer/ groups of customers 

with appropriate pricing models 
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3. Introduce new main 

products  

The processes and systems used for 

product development are not effective , 

in particular the transition between 

Project and Service 

Develop oversight of transition plans for new 

services and implement a process for the 

retirement of legacy services  

 

4. Improve levels of 

member, 

government and 

stakeholder 

satisfaction, and 

establish Jisc as a 

member organisation 

of purpose and value 

 

Jisc fails to communicate its 

membership offer and value proposition 

effectively  

 

Jisc's role and funding is not valued and 

carried over into OfS and Research 

England; and/or Jisc is expected to 

provide services to challenger 

institutions within the same funding 

envelope 

 

Ensure we have ongoing, meaningful 

conversation with members and act on 

member feedback  

 

Identify key contacts in UKRI and OfS and 

build relationships, ensuring that OfS and 

UKRI policy and objectives are understood and 

how we support these is demonstrated 

 

 

Approved and authorised for issue on behalf of the Board by: 

 

 

Professor David Maguire, Jisc Chair 

30 November 2017 
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Trustees’ Report  
The trustees are pleased to present their report and audited consolidated financial statements for the year ended 

31 July 2017. This report includes the requirement for a Directors’ Report under the Companies Act 2006. 

Legal and administrative information 
Jisc is a charitable company limited by guarantee (CLG) which operates under bespoke Articles of Association.  

Our constitution allows for two classes of membership. One class comprises Representative Members, which 

includes the original members and guarantors - the Association of Colleges, GuildHE and Universities UK.  Each 

of these Representative Members holds 30% of the voting rights. The other class of membership comprises 

Institutional Members, who together hold 10% of the voting rights. This class of membership is limited to UK 

education, learning and research providers for which Jisc receives central funding from the UK higher and further 

education funding bodies. A full list of our members can be found in the Register of Members at 

https://www.jisc.ac.uk/about/institutional-membership. 

Registered and principal office address 

One Castlepark 

Tower Hill 

Bristol BS2 0JA 

 

Company registration number: 05747339 

Charity registration number: 1149740 

Registered in England and Wales 

Company Secretary: Ms Alice Colban 

Independent Auditors 

PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP  

3 Forbury Place 

23 Forbury Road 

Reading 

Berkshire RG1 3JH 

Bankers 

Lloyds Bank Plc 

39 Threadneedle Street 

The City 

London  

EC2R 8AU 

Royal London  

55 Gracechurch Street 

London  

EC3V 0RL 

 

  

https://www.jisc.ac.uk/about/institutional-membership
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Solicitors 

DAC Beachcroft  Veale Wasbrough Vizards 

100 Fetter Lane   Orchard Court 

London  EC4A 1BN  Orchard Lane 

    Bristol BS1 5WS    

Corporate structure 
Jisc is a holding company, with two wholly owned subsidiary companies – Jisc Commercial Limited and Jisc 

Services Limited. All three companies are incorporated in the United Kingdom. 

 

Jisc Commercial Limited (company number 09316933) was incorporated in November 2014 as a commercial 

vehicle through which Jisc could maximise its assets to provide income to reinvest in the development and 

delivery of Jisc services to its customers.  Significant organisational changes have been made to Jisc Commercial 

Limited during 2016-17.  Further information can be found later in this report (see page 41) and in the Jisc 

Commercial Limited Annual Report and Financial Statements 2016-17. 

Jisc Services Limited (company number 02881024) is Jisc’s other subsidiary company. Further information on Jisc 

Services Limited can be found later in this report (see page 40) and in the Jisc Services Limited Annual Report 

and Financial Statements 2016-17. 

The Jisc Board has overall strategic oversight of the Jisc group.  All three companies in the group operate under 

defined Articles of Association. The Jisc Articles are available from the Jisc website at 

http://www.jisc.ac.uk/about/corporate/company-and-charity-details.  

During 2017, Jisc invested £350k for 36.8% equity in a new joint venture company, Student Work Placement 

Solutions Limited, established with National Centre for Universities and Business (NCUB) and Unite Students to 

develop a student workplace application, called Placer. The entity will operate independently with its own staff.  

 

http://www.jisc.ac.uk/about/corporate/company-and-charity-details
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Funding model 
We receive core funding from the funding bodies responsible for HE and FE across the UK.  These are: 

 Higher Education Funding Council for England (HEFCE) 

 Department for Education (England) (DfE)1 

 Higher Education Funding Council for Wales (HEFCW) 

 Department for Education and Skills, Wales (DfES) 

 Department for the Economy (Northern Ireland) (DfE Northern Ireland) 

 Scottish Further and Higher Education Funding Council (SFC) 

A subscription fee is also paid by HE institutions across the UK.  The chart below shows the different elements of 

our core funding in 2016-17:  

 

                                                                    

1 Until 31 March 2017, funding for FE in England was provided by the Department for Business, Innovation and Skills (BIS).  
From 1 April 2017, funding for FE has been received from the Department for Education (England).  The chart above reflects 
the income received from both departments for the full reporting year 1 August 2016 – 31 July 2017 

HEFCE (HE), £40.0m

SFC (HE), £7.42m
HEFCW (HE), £2.13m

DfE Northern Ireland 
(HE), £1.27m

BIS/DfE England (FE), 
£21.6m

SFC (FE), £1.97m

Welsh Government 
(FE), £1.86m

DfE Northern Ireland 
(FE), £0.63m

HEI subscriptions (HE), 
£10.47m

http://www.hefce.ac.uk/
https://www.gov.uk/government/organisations/department-for-education
http://www.hefcw.ac.uk/
http://wales.gov.uk/topics/educationandskills/?lang=en
https://www.economy-ni.gov.uk/
http://www.sfc.ac.uk/
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Governance and management  

Trustees 

The trustees of the company who were in office during the year and up to the date of signing the financial 

statements (except where indicated) were: 

Professor Elizabeth Barnes – vice chancellor and chief executive, Staffordshire University (nominated by 

Universities UK – from 1 February 2017) 

Susan Bowen – vice president and general manager, Cogeco Peer 1 (from 14 February 2017) 

Dr Paul Feldman – chief executive, Jisc  

Mr Robin Ghurbhurun – chief executive and principal, Richmond upon Thames College (nominated by 

Association of Colleges) 

Professor Philip Gummett, CBE – retired chief executive, Higher Education Funding Council for Wales 

(nominated by Jisc’s core funders) 

Professor Paul Layzell – principal, Royal Holloway University of London 

Professor David Maguire – vice chancellor, University of Greenwich (chair) 

Robert McWilliam – previously vice president, consumables, Amazon UK (from 20 February 2017) 

Professor Calie Pistorius - vice chancellor, University of Hull (nominated by Universities UK, Deputy Chair 

– until 31 January 2017) 

Professor Nigel Seaton – principal and vice chancellor, Abertay University (nominated by GuildHE) 

Professor Mark Smith – vice chancellor, Lancaster University 

Dr Ken Thomson – principal, Forth Valley College 

Professor Anne Trefethen – pro vice chancellor and chief information officer, University of Oxford 

 

Independence of trustees 

Our trustees, with the exception of our chief executive, are all considered to be independent non-executive 

directors.  The nature of Jisc’s business, and its relationship with UK higher education institutions and further 

education colleges through institutional membership and the delivery of services means that Jisc does have a 

relationship with the employing organisations of the majority of trustees.  However, this is reflective of the 

membership structure of the organisation and the purposeful approach to ensuring Jisc’s activities are guided by 

the customers we exist to serve and does not affect the independence of trustees. 

Trustees are appointed for a maximum term of six years – a three-year initial term and an extension of up to a 

further three years subject to a positive performance review and subject to the agreement of appointing 

organisations where this applies.  Further information on the appointment of Trustees can be found on page 24. 
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Jisc Executive Leadership Team 

The following members of the Jisc Executive Leadership Team are responsible for managing the day to day 

activities of the charitable company: 

Dr Paul Feldman, chief executive  

Ms Alice Colban, chief operating officer and deputy chief executive (company secretary) 

Mr Mark Wright, chief financial officer 

Mr Keith Cole, interim executive director, digital resources 

Mr Robert Haymon-Collins, executive director, marketing and communications 

Mr Timothy Marshall, executive director, sales and customer relationships (until 31 July 2017) 

Mr Jon Tucker, executive director, member engagement and sales (from 3 July 2017) 

Mr Timothy Kidd, executive director, Jisc Technologies  

Mr Bob Day, executive director, Janet, chief technology officer, Jisc Technologies 

Dr Phil Richards, chief innovation officer 

Membership structure and VAT-exempt Cost Sharing Group 

Our membership model is currently based on Jisc institutional membership, which is open to all eligible higher 

education institutions and further education colleges across the UK.  Eligibility is determined by the core funding 

received from the higher and further education funding bodies. With Jisc institutional membership comes 

automatic membership of the VAT-exempt Cost Sharing Group, which means that members will not pay VAT on 

their Jisc subscription (where this applies) and a range of other services that Jisc provides.  The Jisc VAT-exempt 

Cost Sharing Group has been approved by the VAT Policy Unit at HM Revenue & Customs and is one of the 

largest VAT-exempt Cost Sharing Groups in the UK.  At 31 July 2017, 153 higher education institutions and 115 FE, 

Sixth Form or Specialist colleges in the UK were Jisc members, along with our Representative Members.  The 

number of FE members has reduced due to college mergers following the implementation of recommendations 

of area reviews in England. 

In order to become an institutional member, an application form must be completed and the organisation must 

meet the following membership conditions: 

 That prior to the end of each of Jisc's financial years (currently 1 August to 31 July) institutional 

members shall agree to purchase services from Jisc in the subsequent year and shall actually 

purchase services from Jisc in that year; 

 That institutional members shall at all times continue to carry on activities which are themselves 

exempt from VAT or which are not business activities for VAT purposes (the "relevant activities"); 

and 

 That either (a) institutional members’ relevant activities amount, and shall at all times amount, to at 

least 85% of the institutional members’ total activities or (b) those supplies of services received from 

Jisc shall be directly attributable to the relevant activities. 

Membership is terminated if an institutional member no longer meets these conditions.   
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Role of the members 

Institutional Members are represented by the most appropriate Representative Member (Association of 

Colleges, GuildHE or Universities UK) to act on their behalf in governance matters of Jisc.  Institutional Members 

are free to choose to represent themselves, though none have elected to do so.  This approach saves Institutional 

Members the overhead costs associated with discussing governance and compliance activities with us, and saves 

us the cost of discussing procedural matters with a significant number of members.  Jisc’s Representative 

Members therefore also act in the interests of their nominating members. 

The liability of each member (both Institutional and Representative) is limited to a maximum of £1. This liability 

will apply for the duration of membership of the charitable company and for one year beyond the end of 

membership. 

Jisc’s members have the following rights according to provisions in the Companies Act 2006: 

- To receive a copy of the annual report and financial statements 

- To agree changes to the Articles of Association and company name 

- To be sent a proposed written resolution 

- To require circulation of a written resolution 

- To require Trustees’ to call a general meeting 

- To receive notice of a general meeting 

- To require circulation of a statement 

- To appoint a proxy to act at a meeting 

Each Representative Member is the same class of member, each having one vote on resolutions proposed to 

members. Ordinary resolutions specific to members meetings can be passed by a simple majority vote.  Further 

information on the types of decision to be proposed to members through a resolution is included in the Articles 

of Association. 

Role of the Board and Trustees 

The Trustees are also the directors of the charitable company for the purposes of company law. In discharging 

their responsibilities, Trustees must act solely in the interests of the charitable company - they are not the 

delegates or representatives of any nominating body.     

The responsibilities of the Board are written into the Articles of Association.  The Board: 

 Approves the strategic aims for Jisc and its values and standards  

 Ensures that financial and human resources are in place to meet these aims 

 Reviews management performance 

 Ensures that Jisc’s obligations to its members, customers and funders are understood and met 

 Reviews and approves corporate strategy, budgets and business plans 

 Agrees objectives and monitors performance 

 Oversees the integrity of the charitable company’s accounting and financial reporting systems 

 Oversees the integrity of the external audit process 

 Approves the annual financial statement based on advice from the Audit and Risk Management 

committee 

 Reviews its own performance and effectiveness annually 
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Certain activities are delegated to Board committees (see the Board committee section on page 26) but 

responsibility remains with the Board for example, the delegated responsibilities of the Audit and Risk 

management Committee are as detailed below. 

Trustees also take roles as deputy chair, chairs of the three Board committees (Nominations & Governance; 

Audit and Risk Management; Remuneration) and chairs of the Stakeholder Forum (a key mechanism for 

engaging with Jisc’s stakeholders).  The chairs of these committees are appointed by the Board based on 

recommendations from the Nominations and Governance committee. The Jisc chair also chairs the Funders and 

Owners Group, which brings together representatives from our funders and Representative Members with senior 

Jisc officers. 

Responsibilities of Trustees 

The Trustees of a charitable company have ultimate responsibility for directing the affairs of the charitable 

company. They must ensure that the charitable company is and remains solvent, they must use the charitable 

company's funds prudently and only in furtherance of the charitable company's objects and they must avoid 

undertaking activities that might place the charitable company's funds at undue risk. 

To ensure that Trustees are able to appropriately discharge their duties, Trustees are expected to make every 

effort to attend Board meetings and the annual away day, and to participate fully in discussions.  The following 

table indicates attendance of Trustees at full Board meetings throughout 2016-17: 

Board Eligibility to attend 
(based on term of office) 

Actual attendance 

Professor Elizabeth Barnes 2 2 

Ms Susan Bowen 2 2 

Dr Paul Feldman 4 4 

Mr Robin Ghurbhurun 4 3 

Professor Philip Gummett CBE 4 4 

Professor Paul Layzell 4 4 

Professor David Maguire 4 4 

Mr Robert McWilliam 2 2 

Professor Calie Pistorius 2 2 

Professor Nigel Seaton  4 4 

Professor Mark Smith 4 4 

Dr Ken Thomson 4 2 

Professor Anne Trefethen 4 4 

Board effectiveness review 

An annual review of the effectiveness of the Jisc Board was conducted between October and November 2016.  

The review was managed internally and included a short survey asking trustees and senior executives to rate 

aspects of Board and governance discussions and support, followed by an informal discussion between the chair 
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and each Trustee and senior executive.  The survey invited comment on roles and responsibilities, risk 

management, corporate reporting, financial management, Board effectiveness and Board composition. 

The findings of the review were compiled into a report by the Jisc chair and a series of recommendations 

presented to both the Nominations and Governance committee (as the committee responsible for the process) 

and the Jisc Board in November 2017. The recommendations focused on ongoing improvements to risk 

management; oversight of Jisc Commercial Limited, the desired range of skills of trustees; the approach to 

financial reporting; and the structure and content of Board agendas and papers.  The recommendations have 

been implemented and will be reviewed as part of the Board effectiveness review being undertaken in autumn 

2017. 

The effectiveness review process was extended in 2016 to the Audit and Risk Management committee. The 

recommendations focused on the approach to ensuring audit committee members are equipped to perform their 

role; improving the effectiveness of meetings; and increasing the effectiveness of scrutinising the accounts. The 

recommendations have been implemented and will be reviewed as part of the Board effectiveness review being 

undertaken in autumn 2017. 

The autumn 2017 Board and committee effectiveness review is being externally facilitated.   A contract has been 

awarded for this work to be conducted from September – November 2017. 

Appointment of chair and Trustees 

 

Jisc chair 

The Jisc chair is appointed by the Representative Members (see Legal Status of Jisc section on page 17).  This is a 

separate role to that of the Jisc chief executive and there is no intention to alter this structure.   

Jisc deputy chair 

The Jisc deputy chair provides a further senior role in the governance structure to support the chair, and to take 

the chair at meetings in the event the Jisc chair was unable to attend.  The role became vacant on 1 February 

2017 once Professor Calie Pistorius stepped down as a trustee.    

Jisc trustees 

Our trustees include senior leaders working in UK further and higher education and individuals with the business 

skills and expertise that will help shape Jisc for the future. Trustees determine the strategic direction and 

priorities for the organisation to reflect the present and future needs of the education and research sectors. 

Individuals are drawn from across the UK to provide an appropriate balance of experience from the respective 

countries and from the sectors we serve, and in accordance with our defined skills set for trustees.  
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The composition of the Board is as follows: 

 

These Trustees are identified in the Governance and management section on page 20 of this report. 

During 2016-17, UUK nominated a new trustee to the Jisc Board (Professor Elizabeth Barnes).   Trustees 

nominated by our Representative Members remain subject to the approval and recommendation of the 

Nominations and Governance committee and the approval of the Jisc Board.  These trustees act solely in the 

interest of Jisc and not as the delegates or representatives of any nominating body. 

All new trustees are appointed for an initial period of three years, with the option for appointment for a further 

three years subject to a satisfactory review of performance and the approval of the Nominations and Governance 

committee. 

In autumn 2016, the Nominations and Governance committee sought to fill a Board-appointed vacancy.  The 

need for further business development and commercial expertise was identified to ensure that the Board was 

well-placed to deliver our future strategy.  Previous attempts to identify candidates with the required skills and 

expertise through open advertisement processes had been unsuccessful.  The Nominations and Governance 

committee, with the approval of the Board, sought the assistance of Gatenby Sanderson, a firm of headhunters, 

to assist the search for new trustees.  The recruitment process was successful and the Board agreed to appoint 

two new trustees as a result.  In order to allow the appointment of two further trustees, the Jisc Articles of 

Association were amended to increase the maximum number of Board appointed trustees to six.  This 

amendment was agreed by Jisc’s Representative Members in January 2017. 

The diversity of the Board remains an issue that we are keen to address.  Bringing together diverse experience 

and expertise increases constructive discussions and facilitates better decision-making.   Candidates from diverse 

backgrounds are sought whenever a vacancy on the Board arises and candidates from under-represented groups 

are encouraged.  Gender diversity on the Board has improved in the 2016-17 year, with women forming 25% of 

Trustees at 31 July 2017, up from 8.3% at 31 July 2016.  The Nominations and Governance committee will be 

actively considering mechanisms for increasing diversity in 2017-18.  Further information on the work of the 

Chair -
appointed by 

Representative 
Members

1 Trustee 
appointed by 

AoC

1 Trustee 
appointed by 

GuildHE

1 Trustee 
appointed by 

UUK

1 Trustee 
appointed by 

funders

Up to 6 
Trustees 

appointed by 
the Board

Jisc chief 
executive
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Nominations and Governance committee can be found under Key Board committees on page 26.  Information on 

diversity within senior management and the wider Jisc workforce can be found in the Diversity section of this 

report on page 36.   

An induction is provided to new trustees on our activities, financial position and risks as well as their duties and 

responsibilities in the context of the charitable company.  The induction process includes detailed briefings from 

members of Jisc’s senior leadership team and visits to Jisc’s offices.  Good practice documentation from the 

Charity Commission is shared with all trustees upon appointment and when new or updated documents are 

published. 

Remuneration of Trustees 

In the year to 31 July 2017, remuneration has been paid to Dr Paul Feldman (as Chief Executive) and Professor 

David Maguire as Jisc Chair. This remuneration is paid for these additional roles undertaken on behalf of Jisc and 

not in their capacity as trustees. No other trustees are remunerated. The details of this remuneration are shown 

in note 13(a) of the Financial Statements on page 60. The level of remuneration has been approved by the 

Remuneration committee and authority to pay has been given by the Charity Commission. Jisc’s Articles of 

Association give express authority for this payment.   

A Travel and Subsistence policy is available for Trustees and committee members.  The policy has been 

developed with due heed to Charity Commission guidance.  Travel and subsistence costs are refunded to 

Trustees and committee members on submission of a claim with supporting receipts and payment is subject to 

compliance with the policy.  The policy will be reviewed in 2017-18 to ensure this remains appropriate. 

Jisc also arranges and pays for overnight accommodation as required for trustees and committee members to 

facilitate their attendance at committee or Board meetings where same day travel is not considered reasonable.  

These costs are included in the note relating to trustees expenses in note 13(b) of the Financial Statements on 

page 61. 

Trustees’ indemnity insurance 

Trustee indemnity insurance provides insurance cover for charitable company trustees against claims which may 

arise from their legitimate actions as Trustees.  Insurance is in place for all trustees through the course of their 

appointment with Jisc.  As a matter of law, charities require authority to purchase this type of insurance. There 

have been no claims against this insurance in the reporting year. 

Key Board committees 

The Board has three standing committees that undertake key activities on its behalf.  Each committee has 

responsibility across the Jisc group.  Reports from the committees are regularly received by the Board and the 

Board remains responsible for the activity it has delegated to these committees. 
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Audit and Risk Management committee 

The Audit and Risk Management committee meets three times a year in November, March and July.  The Terms 

of Reference for the committee, reviewed in July 2017, are as follows: 

 

In 2016-17, the remit of the Audit and Risk Management committee was extended to allow detailed oversight of 

health and safety issues.  The responsibility for health and safety remains firmly with the Jisc Board, but with the 

Audit and Risk Management committee giving further scrutiny to health and safety issues across the Jisc Group.  

An internal Health and Safety committee, made up of a range of staff representatives and chaired by the Deputy 

Chief Executive meets regularly to review policy, agree and deliver an annual workplan and provide performance 

reports to the Audit committee and Jisc Board.  

The Audit and Risk Management committee also agreed the addition of a clear term of reference relating to its 

anti-fraud responsibilities, and this area of work will be a priority in 2017-18. 
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Advise the Board on the appointment of both internal and external auditors for Jisc and its subsidiary 
companies and to monitor the performance, effectiveness and independence of auditors;

Ensure that Jisc’s internal auditors have access to the information they require to discharge their 
duties.  Auditors are expected to be in attendance at each committee meeting and have the right to 

call a committee meeting without Jisc staff present;

Satisfy itself that satisfactory arrangements are in place to promote economy, efficiency and 
effectiveness;

Oversee the formal risk management frameworks and risk appetites in place in for Jisc and its 
subsidiary companies and advise the Board on the adequacy and effectiveness of the risk 

management structures and the risk status of Jisc;

Consider the identified risks and their scores to ensure a complete and robust picture of the risk 
environment;

Ensure that an appropriate system of internal control is in place;

Periodically review the controls in place and reflect on the level of assurance given;

Oversee the development of an appropriate fraud strategy and maintain oversight of fraud risks and 
mitigations through regular reporting;

Oversee the work on the efficiency and value of Jisc and act as primary governance contact for the 
Strategic Support Unit (who maintain and communicate Jisc's value proposition);

Review and recommend the annual financial statements and report for Jisc and its subsidiary 
companies to the relevant Boards;



Jisc Trustees’ Report and Financial Statements 

Year ended 31 July 2017  

Jisc Trustees’ Report and Financial Statements for the year ended 31 July 2017                                                                                                                      28 

Further information about the committee’s responsibility for internal control is reported under the Risk 

Management and internal control section of this report on page 31. 

Membership and attendance 

The following table includes details of the members of the Audit and Risk Management committee and their 

attendance at meetings during 2016-17: 

Committee member 

 

Eligibility to 
attend (based 

on term of 
office) 

Actual 
attendance 

Professor Philip Gummett CBE, Jisc Trustee  3 3 

Mr Bryan Ingleby, Chartered Accountant  3 3 

Mr Stephen Large, Vice-President (Finance), King’s College London  3 1 

Ms Nicola Owen, Chief Administrative Officer, Lancaster University  3 3 

Professor Nigel Seaton, Jisc Trustee  3 2 

 

Members of the Jisc Executive Leadership Team and the Deputy Company Secretary attend meetings of the 

committee but are not members thereof.  Our internal auditors are in attendance at each meeting to discuss 

audit findings and recommendations for the improvement of our system of internal controls, together with 

management’s responses.  Our external auditors join the committee to present their plan for the annual Audit 

Strategy (July meeting) and to present their opinion of the Annual Reports and Financial Statements for the Jisc 

group (November meeting).  The committee has the option of meeting the external and internal auditors on 

their own for independent discussions without the presence of Jisc staff.   
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Nominations and Governance Committee 

The Nominations and Governance committee met three times in 2016-17, in September and November 2016 and 

June 2017.  The Terms of Reference for the committee, reviewed in June 2017, are as follows:
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Make recommendations to the Board in relation to the appointment of members of  the Board

Agree, and keep under review, an appropriate mix of skills and expertise amongst Board 
members, and ensuring appropriate country and sector representation for the Jisc Board

Ensure that amongst the chairs and any vice chairs of the Jisc Board, subsidiary company Boards, 
Stakeholder Forum and supporting committees, that the mix and balance of chairs should be 
constituted to broadly reflect the sectors Jisc serves and the respective financial contributions

Ensure a formal, transparent and effective system for the nomination and election of trustees to 
the Jisc and subsidiary company Boards and supporting committees, and to recommend 

appointments in line with this system

Oversee the establishment and management of the Jisc Fellows scheme, making 
recommendations to the Board for the award of the title as necessary

Consider the equality and diversity of Jisc Board and supporting committee members

Monitor and manage conflicts of interest

Monitor the attendance of Board, subsidiary company Boards and supporting committees and 
take appropriate action to address non-attendance

Ensure a sensible approach to succession planning

Ensure that the Board and supporting committees undertake a review of their performance and 
effectiveness as a group, and individually (with external expertise as deemed appropriate)

Ensure that the Jisc Stakeholder Forum is appropriately planned and managed, and ensure that 
the Jisc Board considers and responds to issues raised at the meeting
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Membership and attendance 

The following table includes details of the members of the Nominations and Governance committee and their 

attendance at meetings during 2016-17: 

Committee member 

 

Eligibility to 
attend (based 

on term of 
office) 

Actual 
attendance 

Professor Elizabeth Barnes, Jisc Trustee 1 1 

Professor David Maguire, Jisc and committee chair 3 3 

Mr Robin Ghurbhurun, Jisc Trustee  3 2 

Professor Philip Gummett CBE, Jisc Trustee  3 3 

Professor Calie Pistorius, Jisc Trustee  2 2 

Professor Nigel Seaton, Jisc Trustee  3 3 

The chief executive, chief operating officer and deputy company secretary are in attendance at meetings of the 

committee but are not members thereof.  The executive director of communications and marketing is in 

attendance as necessary with regard to responsibility for the Jisc Fellowship Scheme. 

 

Remuneration committee 

The committee meets as required throughout the year and holds email discussions as necessary to discharge 

their duties.  In the reporting year the committee has met twice, in September 2016 and June 2017.  The Terms of 

Reference of the committee are as follows: 

 

Membership and attendance 

The following table includes details of the members of the Remuneration committee and their attendance at 

meetings during 2016-17: 
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Propose and review the remuneration (if any) of members of the Board and members of the Boards 
of the Charity's subsidiaries

Propose and review the remuneration of the senior staff of the Charity and the Charity's subsidiaries

Monitor and evaluate the performance of the Executive Directors and the senior management of 
the Charity and the Charity's subsidiaries

Advise the Board, as necessary, on standardisation of remuneration and terms and conditions of 
employment across the Charity and its subsidiaries
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Committee member 
 

Eligibility to 
attend (based 

on term of 
office) 

Actual 
attendance 

Mr Robin Ghurbhurun, Jisc Trustee 2 2 

Professor Paul Layzell, Jisc Trustee  2 2 

Professor David Maguire, Jisc and committee chair 2 2 

The chief executive, deputy chief executive (and chief operating officer) and the Director for people are in 

attendance when it is appropriate and are absent when issues of direct relevance to their positions are discussed.   

Slavery and human trafficking statement 

With the passing of the Modern Slavery Act 2015 (“Act”), Jisc is required to prepare and publish a Slavery and 

human trafficking statement in each financial year.  Jisc’s first statement was published in December 2016 and 

has been updated for 2017. 

Further information on Jisc’s plans appears in the Slavery and human trafficking statement on the Jisc website at 

http://www.jisc.ac.uk. The statement has been approved by the Jisc Board and signed on its behalf by the Chair 

and Chief Executive.   

Risk management and internal control 

Jisc Board and internal control 

The Jisc Board is ultimately responsible for the charitable company’s system of internal control and for reviewing 

its effectiveness.  Such a system of internal control is designed to manage rather than eliminate the risk of failure 

to achieve business objectives and can only provide reasonable and not absolute assurance of effectiveness. 

The Audit and Risk Management committee provides a high level review of the internal control arrangements of 

the charitable group and reports on this to the Board. One element of the system of internal controls is Internal 

Audit, which undertakes a programme of work, agreed with and reported to the Audit and Risk Management 

Committee.  The programme of internal audits is considered and agreed by the committee and the Jisc Board 

each year and is designed in the context of a wider assurance framework.   

The approach to the provision of internal audit has been considered in the 2016-17 reporting year and a new co-

sourced approach will be implemented during 2017-18.  This will involve a permanent internal resource, with 

expertise from an external audit firm when required and to provide oversight of the quality of the audit work. 

The Board normally meets four times a year for formal meetings, with an annual strategy-focussed away-day.  

As described in the Key Board Committees section on page 26, the Board has an Audit and Risk Management 

committee, Nominations and Governance committee and a Remuneration committee. There are agreed terms 

of reference for these committees which include the authority delegated to the committee by the Board.  While 

authority is delegated, responsibility continues to reside with the Board. The Jisc Articles of Association clearly 

identify areas of responsibility which cannot be delegated such as Jisc’s overall strategy. 

http://www.jisc.ac.uk/
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Day to day running of Jisc is delegated to the Chief Executive and Executive Leadership Team as described in the 

Governance and management section of this report (page 21). 

Risk Management Framework 

The following key principles outline the approach to risk management:  

 The Jisc Board has responsibility for overseeing risk management within Jisc as a whole.  

 The Jisc Board encourages well-managed risk taking where it has good potential to realise sustainable 

improvements in service delivery and value for money.  

 The Jisc Board encourages Jisc to use the risk assessment as a means of assessing the opportunities, as 

well as threats, for operations.  

 An open and receptive approach to solving risk problems is adopted by the Board.  

 The Jisc Executive Leadership Team supports, advises and implements decisions agreed by the Board.  

 Decision making and planning should be supported by risk assessment and management at a Jisc-wide, 

Jisc directorate, service or project level.  

There is a formal risk management framework in place. The framework allows assessment of strategic and 

operational risks and the implementation of risk management strategies. A strategic (corporate) risk register, 

including key high level risks is owned by the Executive Leadership Team, and is reviewed every two months or 

more frequently as necessary. The risk register covers commercial, financial, political, environmental, cultural, 

acquisition and quality risks. The strategic risk register has been reviewed and updated in the reporting year to 

ensure that it reflects the Jisc strategy for 2016-19 described on page 9 and Jisc’s annual priorities and key 

performance indicators for 2017-18 (see page 13). 

Each Jisc directorate has its own risk register related to the strategic register as appropriate, with more specific 

service and project related risk registers as necessary. Comprehensive risk management training is provided to 

all managers and appropriate staff and supporting documentation is available for all staff across the 

organisation.  The principal risks associated with Jisc can be found in the Principal Risks and Uncertainties section 

on page 15. 

The framework also includes a risk appetite, which describes the amount and type of risk we are willing to take to 

achieve our strategic objectives. It deals with the decisions that we make for things that are under our control. It 

does not deal with risks created through external uncertainty.  The Risk Appetite statement has two main roles: 

 It provides assurance to the Jisc Board that we have a coherent approach to different types of risk in the 

business and we understand and agree activities both where we are open to some level of risk to achieve 

strategic objectives, and activities or functions where we must control risk very tightly and ensure 

compliance with legal and regulatory requirements. 

 It helps faster management decision-making and operational agility by identifying activities where we 

are expecting to incur some level of risk to meet an important objective, without sacrificing robust 

controls elsewhere. 
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A new approach to our risk appetite has been developed in the reporting year. Our aim is to make it a simple and 

expressive tool that can be used in decision-making across the business. This also means that it has moved away 

from being compliance-oriented with very tight definitions of permissible risk, to a framework for risk-informed 

management action. The role of the risk appetite is to identify the risks we are willing to incur to accomplish an 

objective, and the related risk of not doing enough to accomplish the objective.  The new risk appetite statement 

covers a range of significant areas where we need to make decisions about risk. It does not cover every activity or 

every type of risk. It provides high-level guidance about the type of activity; human judgement in how to apply is 

essential and the risk management team will be focusing on helping Jisc staff use all the risk management tools 

effectively as well as developing training and supporting materials based on working experience with the 

framework during 2017-18. 

Following changes to the organisation of Jisc Commercial Limited, the risk management framework and risk 

appetite that previously existed for Jisc Commercial Limited has been incorporated into the new risk framework 

and appetite for the Jisc group. Further information on the changes made to Jisc Commercial Limited can be 

found in the Jisc Commercial Limited Report and Financial Statements Year Ended 31 July 2017 and in the Jisc 

Commercial Limited section of this report on page 41. 

Internal control 

A system of internal control has been developed to provide reasonable assurance against inappropriate use of 

resources and against the risk of errors or fraud. It also supports the achievement of policies, aims and objectives. 

Internal control processes include: 

 a Jisc strategy, approved by the Board; 

 a Jisc-wide operating plan; 

 an annual budget approved by the Board; 

 consideration of the financial results of the group by the Board including variance from budgets and 

benchmarking reviews; 

 delegation of authority and segregation of duties; 

 identification and management of risks or potential risks through a strategic risk register; 

 an internal auditor reporting to the Audit and Risk Management Committee and Trustees; 

 processes in place for identifying and managing compliance with relevant legislation and with the 

requirements of regulatory bodies; and; 

 operational  policies  and  procedures  for  staff  including  a  Whistleblowing policy and Anti-bribery and 

corruption policy. 

The internal auditors are responsible for the planning and completion of a programme of risk-based audits 

designed to review the effectiveness of internal control processes across the Jisc group and to provide 

recommendations on the strengthening of the control environment.  An assurance map has been created to 

ensure appropriate coverage of risk areas through either internal audits or management reporting. This will be 

carried through to the new approach to internal audit implemented during 2017-18 and described in the Risk 

Management Framework section on page 32 of this report.  
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Jisc internal audit opinion 2016-17  

The opinion from Internal Audit, based on the reviews undertaken completed during the period, and in the 

context of materiality is as follows: 

 The risk management activities and controls in the areas which we examined were found to be suitably 

designed to achieve the specific risk management, control and governance objectives in the key areas. 

 Based on our sample testing, risk management, control and governance arrangements were operating 

with sufficient effectiveness to provide reasonable assurance that the related risk management, control 

and governance objectives were achieved by the end of the period under review. 

Internal organisation and policies 

Directorate structure and staff numbers 

A directorate structure exists within Jisc, with seven directorates (Digital futures, Digital resources, Jisc 

technologies, Marketing and Communications, Membership and Sales, Finance and Commercial, Strategy and 

Corporate Services).  Each directorate is led by an Executive Director who sits on the Jisc Executive Leadership 

team (see the Executive Leadership list on page 21 of this report).  The directorate structure spans Jisc, Jisc 

Services Limited and Jisc Commercial Limited.  Working together, these directorates deliver our key activities 

and priorities. 

Jisc’s headcount has remained steady over the past 12 months at 545 employees as at 31 July 2017 (2016: 542) of 

which 84 (15%) are fixed term contracts.    

People and development  

Jisc pay framework 

A new pay framework was introduced for all Jisc employees on 1 August 2016.  The pay framework has enabled 

us to:  

 Benchmark salaries across the labour markets in which we operate; 

 Respond more flexibly to salary movements in these markets; 

 For the first time provide  all employees with the opportunity for annual performance-related pay 

awards;  

 Encourage and incentivise high performance by providing greater pay awards for high performance; and;  

 Recognise and respond to significant occupational/professional/technical/ specialist pay market 

differences within each pay grade  

Our reward philosophy is led by principles established by Jisc’s Remuneration committee (see Key Board 

committees on page 26 of this report) which have steered the development of our pay framework. The 

framework is based on a single pay system applicable to all Jisc employees with pay progression based on 

performance.  An increasingly small number of staff continue to receive incremental increases based on their 
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previous university arrangements until they reach the top of their incremental pay scale.  The performance based 

pay system is underpinned by a performance development scheme.   

 

People Plan 

The People Plan was launched in March 2017 to demonstrate in tangible ways that we care about, invest in, 

develop, involve and engage our workforce.  We are committed to being an inclusive, diverse, innovative, 

exciting provider of technology solutions. The Plan recognises that it is not simply enough to attract talented 

people to work for Jisc there must be a planned strategy for leading, developing and engaging this talent and 

creating an environment which is inclusive and where they want to stay.  This Plan is underpinned by a range of 

initiatives that aim to motivate and retain the commitment of talented individuals and properly utilises their 

skills and abilities. 

The People Plan is made up of eight work streams, the key themes of which are shown in the diagram below and 

act as building blocks to transform how we work: 

 
 

The Plan specifically responds to feedback received from employees about working at Jisc and areas for 

improvement. We have focused during 2017 on our culture and transforming Jisc into a greater place to work.  

We have developed interactive culture pages on our intranet and launched our first Jisc TEDx internal event, with 

a variety of colleagues running short sessions, sharing ideas and excitement about who we are and what we 

achieve. We also ran series of world café-style workshops which provided the opportunity for all staff to input 

their views of the organisation. The output from these events has been used to develop a behavioural framework 

that outlines the behaviours that illustrate our values of Pace, Passion, Pride, Trust and Teamwork (see Key 

priorities and performance indicators on page 13 of this report). The behavioural framework will provide us with a 

context in which our values are more than words, makes clear what is acceptable and what is unacceptable and 

will provide us with a language to give and receive feedback. The behavioural framework will also inform a range 

of activity over the coming period including recruitment and development initiatives. 

We have also been putting in place a greater range of support for people managers, initially with training to 

develop our managers in their people management skills. In January 2018, we will be launching our new learning 

platform and are developing a people manager competency framework to be more transparent around the 

expectations of a high performing people manager at Jisc and will develop core and optional modules aligned to 

those competencies on a blended learning basis.   
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In recent months we launched Jisc’s first apprenticeship scheme. As well as being an important first step in 

developing our own new talent, it will give colleagues a new development opportunity to mentor an apprentice 

and also provide additional resources to develop our existing staff, particularly women, in creating new technical 

pathways. It will also build on our commitment to corporate social responsibility.    

 
Employment policies 

A core set of employment policies are in place and these are periodically reviewed to ensure that they meet 

employment legislation, our values and support the development and retention of an inclusive and diverse 

workforce.  We are also taking a new approach to policy review and development to ensure that we are 

supporting Jisc in becoming the UK’s premier education technology organisation. Our approach to our people 

policies is intended to be light touch which means clear and concise policies with supporting guidance for people 

managers and colleagues.  We will be reviewing our disciplinary, grievance and managing probationary period 

policies to ensure that they reflect our new approach.   Our Anti-Bribery and Corruption Policy has recently been 

reviewed and is being relaunched. 

Key communication channels with staff 

We use a number of communications channels to inform staff of matters that affect them.  This includes the 

following: 

 Joint Negotiating Committee with the  University and College Union (UCU), our recognised trade union 

 Employee representative forum 

 Weekly staff updates 

 Intranet 

 Regular briefing sessions, both at directorate level,  ‘all hands’ briefings with chief executive  and location 

wide briefings 

 Targeted emails where a group of staff is particularly affected by an issue 

 Open consultation processes  

Diversity  

We want to be an organisation that actively promotes and encourages equality, diversity and inclusion.  To 

underpin this we have developed an equality, diversity and inclusion action programme.  However, we recognise 

that diversity and inclusion must be driven by culture change that goes beyond programmes and initiatives and 

focus on mind-set change and recognition of the impact of always doing the same thing.  Only in this way can we 

ensure that as an organisation we are really doing more to become more diverse and inclusive and attracting the 

best talent available.   

This is particularly important in the technology sector where only 17% of technology/ICT workers in the UK are 

female and yet there is a looming digital skills gap where the UK needs one million more tech workers by 2020. 

In the summer of 2016, to provide us with detailed data on the diversity of our workforce, we conducted our first 

all staff diversity questionnaire, which 69% of staff chose to participate in.  The information from this provided a 
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baseline, against which we can measure our progress in future years. We have since launched our HR information 

system through which we will track change and monitor the diversity of our workforce in future.   

 

Age and gender  

Jisc employs staff across a broad age group, with staff ranging from 19 to 67 years old.  There are low levels of 

staff at either end of the spectrum, with the majority of staff (84%) being between 25 and 54 years old. 

The gender split across the organisation is 54% male (52% 2016) to 46% female (48% 2016)   Differences exist 

within all the individual age categories, with a fewer number of females in all categories except 25 – 34. 

 

Gender and pay 

Jisc will be publishing detailed data on gender pay and bonus pay towards the end of 2017.  In advance of this, we 

have assessed our median gender pay gap which sits at 15.9% (mean 18.1%) compared to a UK median of 18.1% 

(2016).  There are a wide range of factors that drive this, not least the underrepresentation of women in 

leadership positions in Jisc as well as legacy factors relating to the number of historic pay arrangements from a 

variety of institutions which have come together in Jisc.  We have started to address this by the introduction of a 

single pay framework in August 2016.  We are also developing an action plan to address the gender pay gap as 

well as wider equality, diversity and inclusion issues.  In particular we want to address the underrepresentation 

of women in STEM (Science, Technology, Engineering and Maths).  As part of this commitment we will be 

seeking to achieve the Tech Talent Charter (TCC) as well at looking at ways of leveraging the opportunities 

provided by the apprentice levy to target the development of existing staff to raise our profile as an attractive 

place to be for successful women in technology. 

 
Supporting staff with disability 

Through providing appropriate support and/or adjustments, Jisc enables individuals with disabilities to remain 

within the workplace and overcome some of the barriers that might be faced. 

The results of our questionnaire indicated that there are 18 staff within Jisc who consider themselves to have a 

disability, representing 3% of the organisation.  Where a staff member considers that they are affected by a 

disability or medical condition that affects their ability to undertake their work, they are advised and encouraged 

to discuss this with their line manager or a people services representative.   

Jisc takes a proactive approach to supporting the health, safety and wellbeing of all staff and works with an 

independent occupational health provider, who can liaise with staff, line managers and the people services team, 

to determine if there are any measures or reasonable adjustments that could be considered to support the 

individual in the workplace. 

All new members of staff are required to complete a pre-employment health questionnaire that is reviewed by 

occupational health to help ensure that we are supporting staff from the start of their employment.   

We have put in place measures to support mental health including providing Resilience training during 

September and December 2016 for both managers and staff.  This is now available as an eLearning option for 

managers and a presentation for staff, together with a range of other online resources.  In addition, where 
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appropriate, counselling is available via our employee assistance programme. This area will be further developed 

during 2017-18. 

 

Ethnicity and religion 

The new Human Resources Information System was launched in September 2017, upon the launch staff were 

asked to complete their equalities data. So far the response rates has ranged from 47% to 55% on each personal 

characteristic. This has enabled us to start to gather data on all key areas of diversity systematically for the first 

time. 

Of the 55% of staff that have so far completed their ethnicity, the majority of staff (80%) categorise themselves 

as ‘White’, with 17% of staff from other ethnic backgrounds, and 3% not providing this information or “preferring 

not to say”. 

In addition, of the 47% of staff that have completed their religion, 53% of which indicate that they follow ‘no 

religion/belief’, with 27% of staff indicating that they are ‘Christian’.   

 

Sexual Orientation 

Of the 49% of staff that have provided their sexual orientation details 79%  indicate that they are ‘heterosexual’, 

with 14% of staff preferring not to say and a total of 6% indicating that they are ‘gay’, ‘lesbian’ or ‘bisexual’. 

 

Next steps for equality, diversity and inclusion at Jisc include: 

i. Encourage more staff to update their diversity data in our new HR information system to establish a 

fuller  picture of our workforce  

ii. Implementing  the activities identified  to support the equality, diversity and inclusion work stream 

iii. To produce the Gender Pay and Bonus Pay report and supporting action plan   

iv. Analyse and monitor the results of the data gathered following the launch of the HR system in and 

identify areas for focus 

v. Integrating equality, diversity and training into management training, including specifically focussing on 

recruitment and the impacts on recruitment.  

vi. Publish our gender pay data in line with requirements.  
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Financial policies  

 

Treasury 

A treasury management policy is in place and reviewed by the Audit and Risk Management committee annually.   

Neither Jisc nor its subsidiaries have a requirement for external borrowings. Any borrowings are not permitted to 

be taken out without the prior consent from HEFCE under the terms of the grant funding agreement. 

 

Credit risk 

The Jisc group’s activities are primarily with state-funded education and research bodies and, as such, has 

minimum credit risk.   

 

Liquidity risk 

In its cash management, Jisc ensures that there are sufficient cash balances to meet day-to-day needs of the 

organisation. 

Grant-making policies  

In some cases, we provides grants to organisations to provide services on its behalf or to participate in projects.  

Grants are managed through specific agreements, which set out the conditions of the grant, including reporting 

requirements and when and how disclosure will happen. The agreement also outlines our responsibilities. Grants 

are usually disbursed in instalments to ensure that agreed timings and results are being met and managed.  Jisc 

staff, monitor and evaluate progress throughout the period of the grants. The nature of these activities will 

depend on the size and complexity of the grant and the perceived level of risk.  
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Jisc Services Limited (company number 02881024) 
Jisc Services Limited is a wholly owned subsidiary of Jisc.  Jisc and Jisc Services Limited share a mutuality of 

interest to support Jisc’s charitable objectives. 

Jisc Services Limited optimises the legal structure so that Jisc’s work for its sectors sits in the charity, with two 

subsidiary companies with suitable separation from the charity to facilitate the operation of the VAT-exempt 

Cost Sharing Group, to ensure we manage tax appropriately, and to carry out commercial income generation 

activity. This structure places Jisc in the best position to deal with the challenges and exploit the opportunities of 

the future.  The full objects of the company can be found in the Jisc Services Limited Annual Report and Financial 

Statements 2016-17. 

Governance 

Jisc’s Trustees have a duty to exercise oversight of Jisc Services Limited in order to safeguard, promote and 

achieve the charitable objectives of Jisc. In discharge of that duty, a Management and Supervision Agreement 

sets out how Jisc Services Limited will carry on its business. This Agreement exists to guide the working practices 

between Jisc and Jisc Services Limited and in no way compromises the fiduciary duties of the directors of Jisc 

Services Limited under the Companies Act 2006. 

In order to carry on the business of Jisc Services Limited and other future activities, Jisc Services Limited requires 

access to certain services, resources and facilities from Jisc.  A Memorandum of Understanding exists to describe 

the services that Jisc will provide to Jisc Services Limited in this regard, and the services that Jisc Services Limited 

undertakes to deliver to Jisc’s customers on behalf of Jisc.   

The directors of the company who were in office during the year and up to the date of signing the financial 

statements (except where indicated) were: 

Ms Alice Colban, Jisc chief operating officer and deputy chief executive 

Dr Paul Feldman, Jisc chief executive (Chair) 

Mr Robert Haymon-Collins, Jisc executive director, marketing and communications 

Mr Timothy Kidd, Jisc executive director, Jisc technologies 

Dr Phil Richards, Jisc chief innovation officer 

Mr Mark Wright, Jisc chief financial officer  

Company secretary: Ms Alice Colban 

Principal activities of Jisc Services Limited 

The activities that are delivered by Jisc Services Limited on behalf of Jisc primarily fall into two categories: some 

aspects of the Jisc network and technology services; and the licensing, subscriptions, publishing services and 

legacy Jisc Collections services. These services are delivered through Jisc Services Limited to ensure the Jisc 

group supports the VAT-exempt cost sharing group and manages tax appropriately.  

This is not an exhaustive list of the activities of Jisc Services Limited and further activities may be added to the 

portfolio of services at the request of Jisc as necessary to ensure that the group continues to operate effectively, 
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for example, revenue-generating services such as Learning Analytics and Analytics Labs services.  Jisc may from 

time to time contract with third parties and will require Jisc Services Limited to perform certain services as its 

sub-contractor in order to fulfil those contracts. 

Further information can be found in the Jisc Services Limited Annual Report and Financial Statements 2016-17. 

Jisc Commercial Limited (company number 09316933) 
Jisc Commercial Limited was established in November 2014 to leverage the investment made in Jisc services and 

makes them commercially available to customers beyond education and research, with the intention of 

delivering a financial contribution to support the running of Jisc and its services.   

On incorporation, an initial loan was made to Jisc Commercial Limited of £1.5m, to be drawn down in instalments 

as required and repaid within three years of each drawdown.  A further network loan was agreed during 2016, to 

be used to settle inter-company charges relating to use of the network and technical assistance sold onto the 

customers of Jisc Commercial Limited.  Similarly to the initial loan, repayment is due three years after 

drawdown. The total fair value of the inter-company loan between and Jisc and Commercial Limited was £1,286k 

at 31 July 2017 (discounted amount pre-provision). Jisc has recognised a provision of £750k against the value of 

this loan. 

During 2016-17, it became clear that Jisc Commercial Limited (then trading as “Jiscom”) was unlikely to meet the 

2016-17 net positive contribution target set by the Jisc Board.  The Jisc Board agreed in principle that the sales 

function within Jisc (serving Jisc’s members) and Jisc Commercial Limited (serving customers beyond Jisc 

members) should be consolidated to create a Jisc-wide sales function. The Jisc Commercial Limited Board 

endorsed the proposals in March 2017 and the necessary changes were effected in April 2017. 

A Transfer Agreement between Jisc Commercial Limited, Jisc Services Limited (JSL) and Jisc was 
signed which described the staff, contracts and liabilities that were transferred to JSL and Jisc   

Jisc Commercial Limited is now a contracting vehicle for Jisc with the base costs consolidated within Jisc and 

charged the cost of sales on successful sales only.  Sufficient commercial sales are required to cover the loan 

repayments to Jisc. Revised sales targets have been established and are included in our key performance 

indicators for 2017-18 (see page 13). 

Governance 

In order to deliver the company changes described above, the Jisc Commercial Limited Board resolved to amend 

the Jisc Commercial Articles of Association, and the revised Articles were put to Jisc as the sole shareholder as a 

Special Resolution.  Amendments were made in the following areas: 

 Company Objects – to tie the objects of the company more closely to delivering Jisc strategy 

 Composition of the Board – to include at least four members of Jisc’s Executive Leadership Team (ELT) 

as directors, alongside at least one external director.   

 Proceedings of the Board – to require a minimum of three Board meetings a year. 

The new Articles of Association were accepted by Companies House in April 2017. 
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Jisc Commercial Limited’s powers and relationship with the rest of the Jisc Group are presented in a range of key 

documents.  These include a Management and Supervision Agreement, which formalises Jisc’s duty to oversee 

Jisc Commercial Limited’s activities and provides a high level statement of Jisc’s supervisory role and Jisc 

Commercial Limited’s permitted activities, and an Intra-Group Operating agreement which sets out the 

resourcing for Jisc Commercial Limited’s external requirements, allows for the back-to-back arrangements to 

enable Jiscom to provide the service supply to its customers and includes details of the services which Jiscom 

may provide to its customers. These documents have been revised to reflect the new structure. 

The Jisc Group Governance Framework, Scheme of Delegation and Risk Management Framework now apply to 

Jisc Commercial Limited in place of previous Jisc Commercial Limited-specific versions. 

The directors of the company who were in office during the year and up to the date of signing the financial 

statements (except where indicated) were: 

Ms Alice Colban, Jisc chief operating officer and deputy chief executive – from 27 April 2017 

Mr Stuart Curzon (non-executive director) 

Dr Paul Feldman, Jisc chief executive (Chair) – from 27 April 2017) 

Mr Timothy Kidd, Jisc executive director, Jisc technologies – from 27 April 2017 

Professor Paul Layzell, principal, Royal Holloway University of London and Jisc trustee (Chair, non-

executive director) – resigned 27 April 2017) 

Mr Philip Male (non-executive director) – resigned 27 April 2017) 

Mr Timothy Marshall, Jisc Commercial chief executive (executive director) – resigned 27 April 2017) 

Professor Mark Smith, vice chancellor, Lancaster University and Jisc trustee (non-executive director) – 

resigned 27 April 2017) 

Mr Mark Wright, Jisc chief financial officer – from 27 April 2017 

Mr Tim Wright (non-executive director) – resigned 27 April 2017) 

Company Secretary: Ms Alice Colban 

Principal activities of Jisc Commercial Limited 

Jisc Commercial Limited offers the core products developed by Jisc and used effectively by Jisc’s core customers 

to a wider range of public or private enterprises. Jisc Commercial Limited’s purpose is to make Jisc services 

available to a wider customer base in order to deliver a financial contribution to support the running of Jisc and 

its services.   

Further information can be found in the Jisc Commercial Limited Annual Report and Financial Statements 2016-

17. 
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Responsibilities of the Board in relation to the Trustees’ Report  
The trustees (who are also directors of Jisc for the purposes of company law) are responsible for preparing the 

Trustees’ Annual Report (including the Strategic Report) and the financial statements in accordance with 

applicable law and regulations. 

Company law requires the trustees to prepare financial statements for each financial year. Under that law, the 

trustees have prepared the financial statements in accordance with United Kingdom Generally Accepted 

Accounting Practice (United Kingdom Accounting Standards, comprising FRS 102 “The Financial Reporting 

Standard applicable in the UK and Republic of Ireland”, and applicable law). Under company law, the trustees 

must not approve the financial statements unless they are satisfied that they give a true and fair view of the state 

of affairs of the charitable company and the group and of the incoming resources and application of resources, 

including the income and expenditure, of the charitable group for that period. In preparing these financial 

statements, the trustees are required to: 

• select suitable accounting policies and then apply them consistently; 

• observe the methods and principles in the Statement of Recommended Practice: Accounting and 

Reporting by Charities (2015); 

• state whether applicable United Kingdom Accounting Standards, comprising FRS 102, have been 

followed, subject to any material departures disclosed and explained in the financial statements; 

• make judgments and accounting estimates that are reasonable and prudent; and 

• prepare the financial statements on the going concern basis unless it is inappropriate to presume that 

the charitable company will continue in business. 

The trustees are responsible for keeping adequate accounting records that are sufficient to show and explain the 

company's transactions and disclose with reasonable accuracy at any time the financial position of the company 

and enable them to ensure that the financial statements comply with the Companies Act 2006. 

The trustees are also responsible for safeguarding the assets of the company and hence for taking reasonable 

steps for the prevention and detection of fraud and other irregularities. 

The trustees are responsible for the maintenance and integrity of the company’s website. Legislation in the 

United Kingdom governing the preparation and dissemination of financial statements may differ from legislation 

in other jurisdictions. 

The Trustees’ responsibilities regarding the HEFCE grant reporting 

The Trustees are responsible for ensuring that all terms of The Funding Agreement have been complied with or 

varied in writing with HEFCE.  The trustees are also responsible for providing relevant financial information to 

HEFCE. 

In the case of each trustee in office at the date the Directors’ Report is approved: 

• so far as the trustee is aware, there is no relevant audit information of which the company’s auditors are 

unaware; and 
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• they have taken all the steps that they ought to have taken as a director in order to make themselves 

aware of any relevant audit information and to establish that the company’s auditors are aware of that 

information. 

Appointment of Independent Auditors 

Pursuant to Section 487 of the Companies Act 2006, the external auditors will be deemed to be reappointed and 

PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP will therefore continue in office. 

 

Approved and authorised for issue and signed on behalf of the Board by: 

 

 

Professor David Maguire, Jisc Chair 

30 November 2017 
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Independent auditors’ report to the members of Jisc 
Report on the audit of the financial statements 

 

Opinion 

In our opinion, Jisc’s group financial statements and parent charitable company financial statements (the “financial 

statements”): 

 give a true and fair view of the state of the group’s and of the parent charitable company’s affairs as at 31 July 2017 

and of the group’s incoming resources and application of resources, including its income and expenditure, and of 

the group’s cash flows, for the year then ended; 

 have been properly prepared in accordance with United Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting Practice (United 

Kingdom Accounting Standards, comprising FRS 102 “The Financial Reporting Standard applicable in the UK and 

Republic of Ireland”, and applicable law); and 

 have been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the Companies Act 2006. 

We have audited the financial statements, included within the Trustees’ Report and Financial Statements (the “Annual 

Report”), which comprise: the group and parent charitable company balance sheets as at 31 July 2017; the group statements 

of financial activities (including the income and expenditure account), the group cash flow statement for the year then 

ended; the accounting policies; and the notes to the financial statements. 

 

Basis for opinion 

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (UK) (“ISAs (UK)”) and applicable law. Our 

responsibilities under ISAs (UK) are further described in the Auditors’ responsibilities for the audit of the financial 

statements section of our report. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to 

provide a basis for our opinion. 

Independence  

We remained independent of the charitable company in accordance with the ethical requirements that are relevant to our 

audit of the financial statements in the UK, which includes the FRC’s Ethical Standard and we have fulfilled our other ethical 

responsibilities in accordance with these requirements. 

 

Conclusions relating to going concern 

We have nothing to report in respect of the following matters in relation to which ISAs (UK) require us to report to you 

when:  

 the trustees’ use of the going concern basis of accounting in the preparation of the financial statements is not 

appropriate; or 

 the trustees have not disclosed in the financial statements any identified material uncertainties that may cast 

significant doubt about the group’s and parent charitable company’s ability to continue to adopt the going concern 

basis of accounting for a period of at least twelve months from the date when the financial statements are 

authorised for issue. 

However because not all future events or conditions can be predicted, this statement is not a guarantee as to the group’s 

and parent charitable company’s ability to continue as a going concern. 
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Reporting on other information  

The other information comprises all of the information in the Annual Report other than the financial statements and our 

auditors’ report thereon. The trustees are responsible for the other information. Our opinion on the financial statements 

does not cover the other information and, accordingly, we do not express an audit opinion or, except to the extent otherwise 

explicitly stated in this report, any form of assurance thereon.  

In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so, 

consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the financial statements or our knowledge obtained 

in the audit, or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If we identify an apparent material inconsistency or material 

misstatement, we are required to perform procedures to conclude whether there is a material misstatement of the financial 

statements or a material misstatement of the other information. If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that 

there is a material misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report 

based on these responsibilities. 

With respect to the Strategic Report and Trustees' Report, we also considered whether the disclosures required by the UK 

Companies Act 2006 have been included.   

Based on the responsibilities described above and our work undertaken in the course of the audit, ISAs (UK) require us also 

to report certain opinions and matters as described below. 

Strategic Report and Trustees’ Report 

In our opinion, based on the work undertaken in the course of the audit the information given in the Trustees’ Report, 

including the Strategic Report, for the financial year for which the financial statements are prepared is consistent with the 

financial statements; and the Strategic Report and the Trustees’ Report have been prepared in accordance with applicable 

legal requirements. 

In addition, in light of the knowledge and understanding of the group and parent charitable company and their environment 

obtained in the course of the audit, we are required to report if we have identified any material misstatements in the 

Strategic Report and the Trustees’ Report. We have nothing to report in this respect. 

 

Responsibilities for the financial statements and the audit 

Responsibilities of the trustees for the financial statements 

As explained more fully in the Responsibilities of the Board in relation to the Trustees’ Report set out on page 43, the 

trustees are responsible for the preparation of the financial statements in accordance with the applicable framework and for 

being satisfied that they give a true and fair view. The trustees are also responsible for such internal control as they 

determine is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether 

due to fraud or error. 

In preparing the financial statements, the trustees are responsible for assessing the group’s and parent charitable company’s 

ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going 

concern basis of accounting unless the trustees either intend to liquidate the group and parent charitable company or to 

cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so. 

Auditors’ responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements 

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free from material 

misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditors’ report that includes our opinion. Reasonable 

assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with ISAs (UK) will 

always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered 
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material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users 

taken on the basis of these financial statements.  

A further description of our responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements is located on the Financial Reporting 

Council’s website at: www.frc.org.uk/auditorsresponsibilities. This description forms part of our auditors’ report. 

Use of this report 

This report, including the opinions, has been prepared for and only for the charity’s members as a body in accordance with 

Chapter 3 of Part 16 of the Companies Act 2006 and for no other purpose. We do not, in giving these opinions, accept or 

assume responsibility for any other purpose or to any other person to whom this report is shown or into whose hands it may 

come save where expressly agreed by our prior consent in writing. 

 

Other required reporting 

Companies Act 2006 exception reporting 

Under the Companies Act 2006 we are required to report to you if, in our opinion: 

 we have not received all the information and explanations we require for our audit; or 

 adequate accounting records have not been kept by the parent charitable company or returns adequate for our 

audit have not been received from branches not visited by us; or 

 certain disclosures of trustees’ remuneration specified by law are not made; or 

 the parent charitable company financial statements are not in agreement with the accounting records and returns. 

We have no exceptions to report arising from this responsibility. 

 

Other voluntary reporting 

Opinion on regularity 

This directors are required to comply with a Funding Agreement with the Higher Education Funding Council for England 

(“HEFCE”) dated 1 December 2012 (the “Funding Agreement”). We have been requested to undertake additional procedures 

in accordance with the HEFCE Audit Code of Practice, and to provide an opinion on regularity, as if Jisc were a higher 

education institution as defined under the Further and Higher Education Act 1992. 

In our opinion, in all material respects, the grants and other income received from the Funding Bodies (defined in the 

Funding Agreement) have been used for the purposes provided.

 

 

 

 

Paul Wherity (Senior Statutory Auditor) 

for and on behalf of PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP 

Chartered Accountants and Statutory Auditors 

Reading 

30  November 2017 
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Activities (including income and 
expenditure account) for the year ended 31 July 2017  
 

 
 

Note 

Unrestricted 
funds 

2017 

Restricted 
funds 

2017 

Total 
Funds 

2017  

 Unrestricted 
funds 
2016 

Restricted 
funds 
2016 

Total 
Funds 

2016 
£’000 £’000 £’000  £’000 £’000 £’000 

INCOME         

Donations and grants 4 51,725 25,150 76,875  54,308 23,770 78,078 
Income from charitable activities 5 42,126 1,596 43,722  39,791 2,216 42,007 
Income from other trading activities 6 11,802 - 11,802  10,299 - 10,299 
Investment income 7 568 - 568  511 - 511 
TOTAL INCOME  106,221 26,746 132,967  104,909 25,986 130,895 

         
EXPENDITURE         
Costs of raising funds:         
Commercial trading operations  1,633 - 1,633  1,277 - 1,277 
Charitable activities 8 111,348 17,312 128,660  109,948 20,537 130,485 
Grants 11 1,983 531 2,514  3,241 1,598 4,839 
Other losses  195 - 195  193 - 193 
TOTAL EXPENDITURE  115,159 17,843 133,002  114,659 22,135 136,794 

         
Net (expenditure) / income 12 (8,938) 8,903 (35)  (9,750) 3,851 (5,899) 
Transfers between funds  10,653 (10,653) -  10,974 (10,974) - 

         
Net movement in funds for the year  1,715 (1,750) (35)  1,224 (7,123) (5,899) 

         
Reconciliation of funds         
Total Funds brought forward  82,539 19,336 101,875  81,315 26,459 107,774 

         

Total Funds carried forward  84,254 17,586 101,840  82,539 19,336 101,875 

 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.  
All results in the year to 31 July 2017 and in the prior year derive from continuing operations. 
  
The consolidated statement of financial activities includes all gains and losses for the year and includes the income and expenditure of the 
group. 
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Consolidated & Charity Balance Sheets as at 31 July 2017 
 

The Charity’s only net loss for the year was £1,611k (2016: loss of £3,107k). 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.  

The financial statements on pages 48 to 75 were approved and authorised for issue by the Board and signed on 

its behalf by: 

 

 

Paul Feldman 
Chief Executive 
30 November 2017 
Registered number: 05747339 

 Group Group Charity Charity 
 
 

Note 

As at 
31/07/2017 

£’000 

As at 
31/07/2016 

£’000 

As at 
31/07/2017 

£’000 

As at 
31/07/2016 

£’000 
      
Fixed assets      
Intangible assets 15 6,421 8,566 - - 
Tangible assets 16 21,717 19,748 1,388 2,107 
Investments 17 350 - 25,739 25,389 
      
Total fixed assets  28,488 28,314 27,127 27,496 
      
Current assets      
Debtors  18 28,186 28,147 4,178 7,100 
Cash at bank and in hand  86,875 84,487 78,370 69,288 
      
Total current assets  115,061 112,634 82,548 76,388 
      
Liabilities       
Creditors: amounts falling due within one year 19 35,944 33,185 23,665 16,161 
Provisions for liabilities 21 5,765 5,888 5,698 5,800 
Total liabilities  41,709 39,073 29,363 21,961 
      
Net current assets  73,352 73,561 53,185 54,427 
      
Total assets less current liabilities  101,840 101,875 80,312 81,923 
      
Net assets  101,840 101,875 80,312 81,923 
      
The funds of the charity:      
Restricted income funds 23 17,586 19,336 6,057 5,535 
Unrestricted income funds 24 84,254 82,539 74,255 76,388 
      
Total charity funds   101,840 101,875 80,312 81,923 
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Consolidated Cash Flow Statement for the year ended 31 July 2017 
 

  
Note 

2017 
£’000 

 2016 
£’000 

Cash flows from operating activities:     

Net cash provided by operating activities 27 14,381  4,958 
     
Cash flows from investing activities:     
Interest received  7 568  511 
Purchase of property, plant and equipment 16 (12,211)  (13,442) 
Purchase of intangible assets 15 -  (1,195) 
Purchase of investments 17 (350)  - 
Net cash used in investing activities  (11,993)  (14,126) 
     
Change in cash and cash equivalents in the reporting period  2,388  (9,168) 
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the reporting period  84,487  93,655 
Change in cash and cash equivalents due to exchange rate movements  -  - 
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the reporting period  86,875  84,487 
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Notes to the financial statements   

1. Statement of compliance 

The group and individual financial statements of Jisc have been prepared on a going concern basis under the 

historic cost convention in accordance with Accounting and Reporting by Charities: Statement of Recommended 

Practice applicable to charities preparing their accounts in accordance with the Financial Reporting Standard 

applicable in the UK and Republic of Ireland (FRS 102) (effective 1 January 2015) - (“Charities SORP (FRS 102)”), 

the Financial Reporting Standard applicable in the UK and Republic of Ireland (“FRS 102”) and the Companies Act 

2006 and the Charities Act 2011.  

2. Principal accounting policies 

The principal accounting policies applied in the preparation of these consolidated and separate financial 

statements are set out below. These policies have been consistently applied to all the years presented, unless 

otherwise stated. 

a) Basis of Preparation 

These consolidated and separate financial statements are prepared on a going concern basis, under the historical 

cost convention, as modified by the recognition of certain financial assets and liabilities measured at fair value.  

Assets and liabilities are initially recognised at historical cost or transaction value unless otherwise stated in the 

relevant accounting policy note(s). 

After reviewing the group's forecasts and projections, the Trustees have a reasonable expectation that the group 

has adequate resources to continue in operational existence for the foreseeable future. The group therefore 

continues to adopt the going concern basis in preparing its consolidated financial statements. 

b) Group financial statements 

The consolidated statement of financial activities includes the financial activities of the charity and its wholly 

owned subsidiaries Jisc Services Limited and Jisc Commercial Limited up to 31 July 2017. Intra-group transactions 

are eliminated fully on consolidation. A separate Statement of Financial Activities and Income and Expenditure 

Account for the charity has not been presented because the charity has taken advantage of the exemption 

afforded by section 408 of the Companies Act 2006. Jisc as a standalone company as permitted by FRS102 as a 

qualifying entity has taken advantage of the available exemption to not prepare a statement of cash flows 

[Section 7 of FRS102 and para 3.17 (d)]. 

c) Fund structure 

Restricted funds are funds which are to be used in accordance with specific restrictions imposed by the donor, 

such as where funding is for specific projects or is capital in nature.  

Unrestricted funds comprise those funds which the charity is free to use for any purpose in furtherance of the 

charitable objects. Unrestricted funds include designated funds where the Trustees, at their discretion, have 

created a fund for a specific purpose. 
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d) Income 

Income is recognised when the group has entitlement to the funds, any performance conditions attached to the 

item(s) of income have been met, it is probable that the income will be received and the amount can be 

measured reliably.  

Income from government and other grants, whether ‘capital’ grants or ‘revenue’ grants, is recognised when the 

group has entitlement to the funds, any performance conditions attached to the grants have been met, it is 

probable that the income will be received and the amount can be measured reliably and is not deferred.   

Income for services, including licensing income and higher education subscriptions, is recognised over the period 

when the relevant service is provided, or in line with the work being performed, whichever is most appropriate.  

Interest income is recognised using the effective interest rate method. 

Income is deferred where services or goods issued to beneficiaries have not been or are partially provided.  In 

addition performance-related grants that are conditional upon the delivery of a specific level of service have 

been deferred where the conditions have not yet been met.  

Grants that are capital in nature are recognised in accordance with the terms of relevant agreement and when 

either expenditure is incurred, or if an approved plan is already in place and the expectation of receipt is 

probable, or cash is received, whichever is soonest.  

e) Expenditure and irrecoverable VAT 

Expenditure is recognised once there is a legal or constructive obligation to make a payment to a third party, it is 

probable that settlement will be required and the amount of the obligation can be measured reliably. All 

expenditure is accounted for on an accruals basis and has been classified under headings that aggregate all costs 

relating to that category of activity within the group. Expenditure is classified under the following activity 

headings:  

 Costs of raising funds comprise the costs of commercial trading and their associated support costs.  

 Expenditure on charitable activities includes the costs of activities undertaken to further the 

purposes of the charity and their associated support costs.  

 Grants payable are payments made to third parties in the furtherance of the charitable objects of the 

group.  Single or multi-year grants are accounted for when either the recipient has a reasonable 

expectation that they will receive a grant and the group agrees to pay the grant without conditions, 

or the conditions attached to the grant are outside the control of the group. 

 Other expenditure represents those items not falling into any other heading. 

Irrecoverable VAT Is charged against the expenditure category of resources expended for which it was incurred. 

f) Allocation of overhead and support costs 

Support costs are those functions that assist the work of the group but do not directly undertake charitable 

activities. Support costs include back office costs, finance, personnel, payroll and governance costs which 

support Jisc’s projects and activities. These costs have been allocated between cost of raising funds and 

expenditure on charitable activities.  

g) Operating leases 

Leases that do not transfer all the risks and rewards of ownership are classified as operating leases. Payments 

under operating leases are charged to the SOFA on a straight-line basis over the period of the lease.  
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h) Lease incentives 

Incentives received to enter into a finance lease reduce the fair value of the asset and are included in the 

calculation of present value of minimum lease payments. 

Incentives received to enter into an operating lease are credited to the SOFA, to reduce the lease expense, on a 

straight-line basis over the period of the lease. 

The Group has taken advantage of the exemption in respect of lease incentives on leases in existence on the date 

of transition to FRS 102 (1 August 2014) and continues to credit such lease incentives to the SOFA over the 

period to the first review date on which the rent is adjusted to market rates. 

i) Tangible fixed assets and depreciation 

All assets are capitalised and recorded at historic cost including any incidental costs of acquisition. Where 

appropriate, provision has been made for impairment in the value of tangible fixed assets. 

Depreciation is charged on a straight line basis to write off the cost of the tangible fixed assets over their 

estimated useful life. 

 Fixtures and fittings – 10 years 

 Office equipment   – 3 years 

 Office furniture   – 10 years 

 Website    – 5 years 

 Network equipment  – 3 years 

Repairs, maintenance and minor inspection costs are expensed as incurred. 

Tangible assets are derecognised on disposal or when no future economic benefits are expected. On disposal, 

the difference between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount is recognised in SOFA and included in 

‘Other losses / gains’. 

j) Intangible fixed assets and amortisation 

Intangible assets are stated at cost less accumulated amortisation and accumulated impairment losses. 

Amortisation is calculated, using the straight-line method, to allocate the depreciable amount of the assets to 

their residual values over their estimated useful lives, as follows:  

 Electronic content  – 10 years 

Amortisation is charged to Support Costs in the Statement of Financial Activities. 

Where factors, such as technological advancement or changes in market price, indicate that residual value or 

useful life have changed, the residual value, useful life or amortisation rate are amended prospectively to reflect 

the new circumstances.  

The assets are reviewed for impairment if the above factors indicate that the carrying amount may be impaired 

on an annual basis. 

Costs associated with maintaining computer software are recognised as an expense as incurred. Development 

costs that are directly attributable to the design and testing of identifiable and unique software products 

controlled by the Group are recognised as intangible assets when the following criteria are met: 

 it is technically feasible to complete the software so that it will be available for use; 

 management intends to complete the software and use or sell it; 
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 there is an ability to use or sell the software;  

 it can be demonstrated how the software will generate probable future economic benefits; 

 adequate technical, financial and other resources to complete the development and to use or sell the 

software are available; and  

 the expenditure attributable to the software during its development can be reliably measured. 

Other development expenditures that do not meet these criteria are recognised as an expense as incurred.  

k) Investments 

Investments in subsidiaries are stated at cost, less provision for impairment.  

An investment in a jointly controlled entity exists when there is a contractually agreed sharing of control over an 

economic activity of a separate legal entity, between Jisc and third party(s). A jointly controlled entity is initially 

recognised at the transaction price and subsequently adjusted for the investors’ share of the profit or loss. 

l) Pensions 

The organisation participates in the Universities Superannuation Scheme (USS), a defined benefit scheme which 

is contracted out of the State Second Pension (S2P). The assets of the scheme are held in a separate Trustee-

administered fund.  Due to the mutual nature of the scheme, the scheme’s assets are not hypothecated to 

individual institutions and a scheme-wide contribution rate is set. The organisation is therefore exposed to 

actuarial risks associated with other institutions’ employees and is unable to identify its share of the underlying 

assets and liabilities  of  the  scheme  on  a  consistent  and  reasonable  basis  and  therefore,  as  required  by FRS  

102 “Retirement  benefits”,  accounts  for  the  scheme  as  if  it  were  a  defined  contribution  scheme.  As a 

result, the amount charged to the SOFA represents the contributions payable to the scheme in respect of the 

accounting period. 

A liability is recorded within provisions for any contractual commitment to fund past deficits within the multi-

employer schemes as determined by the scheme management. The associated expense is recognised in the 

SOFA. 

m) Contingent liabilities 

In accordance with SORP contingent liabilities are disclosed for those grants, which do not represent liabilities, 

but where there is a possible obligation, which arises from past events, which will only be confirmed by one or 

more future events, not wholly within the Trustees’ control. 

n) Foreign currency 

Transactions denominated in foreign currencies are translated at the rate of exchange prevailing at the time of 

the transaction. Foreign currency balances are translated at the rate of exchange prevailing at the balance sheet 

date. 

o) Debtors 

Trade and other debtors are recognised at the settlement amount due after any trade discount offered. 

Prepayments are valued at the amount prepaid net of any trade discounts due. 
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p) Cash at bank and in hand 

Cash at bank and cash in hand includes cash and short term highly liquid investments with a short maturity of 

three months or less from the date of acquisition or opening of the deposit or similar account.  

q) Creditors and provisions 

Creditors and provisions are recognised where the charity has a present obligation resulting from a past event 

that will probably result in the transfer of funds to a third party and the amount due to settle the obligation can 

be measured or estimated reliably. Creditors and provisions are recognised at their settlement amount after 

allowing for any trade discounts due. 

r) Financial instruments  

Jisc only has financial assets and liabilities of a kind that qualify as basic financial instruments. Basic financial 

instruments are initially recognised at transaction value and subsequently measured at their amortised cost. 

All financial assets and financial liabilities are carried at amortised cost. 

3. Critical accounting judgements and estimation uncertainty 

Estimates and judgements are continually evaluated and are based on historical experience and other factors, 

including expectations of future events that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances. 

(a) Critical judgements in applying the entity’s accounting policies: 

Multi-employer defined benefit pension scheme 

The organisation participates in the Universities Superannuation Scheme (USS), a defined benefit scheme 

which is contracted out of the State Second Pension (S2P). The assets of the scheme are held in a separate 

Trustee-administered fund.  Because of the mutual nature of the scheme, the scheme’s assets are not 

hypothecated to individual institutions and a scheme-wide contribution rate is set. The organisation is 

therefore exposed to actuarial risks associated with other institutions’ employees and is unable to identify 

its share of the underlying assets and liabilities  of  the  scheme  on  a  consistent  and  reasonable  basis  and  

therefore accounts  for  the  scheme  as  if  it  were  a  defined  contribution  scheme. See note 29 for further 

details.  

The pension included key assumptions on discount rates, salary inflation and staff numbers in the future. 

The costs of the USS deficit recovery plans have been estimated based on a model devised by USS and the 

British Universities Finance Directors Group. The model uses the additional costs included in the deficit 

recovery plan, adjusts accordingly to management judgement of estimated changes in staffing levels and 

pay increases, and is discounted based on corporate bond levels having a maturity of a similar length to the 

recovery plan. The scheme actuary reviews the funding of the USS every year and undertakes a formal 

actuarial valuation every three years, at which time the deficit recovery plan may be amended. 

(b) Critical accounting estimates and assumptions 

The company makes estimates and assumptions concerning the future. The resulting accounting estimates will, 

by definition, seldom equal the related actual results. The estimates and assumptions that have a significant risk 

of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial year 

are addressed below. 
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(i) Useful economic life of tangible and intangible assets 

The annual depreciation charge for tangible and intangible assets is sensitive to changes in the estimated 

useful economic lives and residual values of the assets. The useful economic lives and residual values are re-

assessed annually. They are amended when necessary to reflect current estimates, based on technological 

advancement, future investments, economic utilisation and the physical condition of the assets. See notes 

15 and 16 for the carrying amount of the intangible and fixed assets respectively, and note 2(i) and 2(j) for 

the useful economic lives for each class of assets. 

(ii) Impairment of debtors 

The company makes an estimate of the recoverable value of trade and other debtors. When assessing 

impairment of trade and other debtors, management considers factors including the current credit rating of 

the debtor, the ageing profile of debtors and historical experience.  

(iii) Timing of revenue recognition 

Revenue from restricted grants can vary in its terms and conditions, specified years to which it relates and 

cash payment profile. Judgement about the most appropriate financial year in which to recognise revenue 

can be required together with the amount of revenue to be recognised in that year, with reference to the 

specifications of a grant letter. 

(iv) Multi-employer defined benefit pension scheme 

The company has an obligation to pay pension benefits to certain employees. The cost of these benefits and 

the present value of the obligation depend on a number of factors, including; life expectancy, salary 

increases, asset valuations and the discount rate on corporate bonds. Management estimates these factors 

in determining the net pension obligation in the balance sheet which is accounted for as a defined 

contribution scheme. The assumptions reflect historical experience and current trends. See note 29 for the 

disclosures relating to the defined benefit pension scheme. 

The organisation participates in the Universities Superannuation Scheme (USS), a defined benefit scheme 

which is contracted out of the State Second Pension (S2P). The assets of the scheme are held in a separate 

Trustee-administered fund.  Because of the mutual nature of the scheme, the scheme’s assets are not 

hypothecated to individual institutions and a scheme-wide contribution rate is set. The institution is 

therefore exposed to actuarial risks associated with other institutions’ employees and is unable to identify 

its share of the underlying assets and liabilities  of  the  scheme  on  a  consistent  and  reasonable  basis  and  

therefore accounts  for  the  scheme  as  if  it  were  a  defined  contribution  scheme. However as the USS 

scheme is in deficit, the group recognises a liability in relation to its contractual obligation to contribute to 

covering this deficit.  See note 29 for further details.  
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4. Donations and grants 

During the year to 31 July 2017 £76,875k (2016: £78,078k) of funding was received from the United Kingsom 

funding bodies for higher and further education.  

 Unrestricted Restricted 
2017 

Total  

2016 
Total 

 £’000 £’000 £’000  £’000 

Funding Body:      

HEFCE 20,000 20,000 40,000  43,000 

BIS / DfE England 18,499 3,100 21,599  20,378 

Scottish Funding Council 8,073 1,314 9,387  9,262 

HEFCW 2,001 125 2,126  2,100 

DEL / DfE Northern Ireland 1,410 493 1,903  1,513 

Welsh Government 1,742 118 1,860  1,825 

 51,725 25,150 76,875  78,078 

Of the total £76,875k (2016: £78,078k) of funding bodies’ grants received during the year, £51,725k (2016:  

£54,308k) was unrestricted and £25,150k (2016: £23,770k) was restricted funding. 

5. Income from charitable activities 

 

The Group is domiciled in the UK. Income for the year to 31 July 2017 from external customers that are non UK 

based was £1,781k (2016: £975k) with the remainder generated in the UK. 

Of the above total £42,126k was unrestricted (2016: £39,791k), £1,596k restricted (2016: £2,216k). 

6. Income from other trading activities  

The group has received £11,802k (2016: £10,299k) of income from other activities, mostly arising from 

membership subscriptions, totalling £10,477k (2016: £10,256k). 

7. Investment income 

All of the group’s investment income of £568k (2016: £511k) arises from money held in interest bearing deposit 

accounts. 

 Digital 
infrastructure 

and technology 
£’000 

Digital 
content and 

discovery 
£’000 

Digital 
futures 

 
£’000 

Value 
realisation  

 
£’000 

2017 
Total 

 
£’000 

 2016 
Total 

 
£’000 

Licensing income - 26,859 - - 26,859  25,238 
Service income 12,596 172 24 - 12,792  12,111 
Project contributions  2,240 923 161 - 3,324  4,104 
Events income - 12 104 451 567  401 
Consultancy income - 36 - 82 118  53 
Training Income 62 - - - 62  100 

 14,898 28,002 289 533 43,722  42,007 
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8. Charitable activities 

 Digital 
infrastructure 
& technology 

£’000 

Digital 
content and 

discovery 
£’000 

Digital 
futures 

 
£’000 

Value 
realisation 

 
£’000 

2017 
Total 

 
£’000 

 2016 
Total 

 
£’000 

Network operations & services 54,778 15 - - 54,793  55,824 
Content and acquisition  - 6,832 - - 6,832  7,697 
Support and liaison - - - 9,432 9,432  10,514 
Technical and development  3,569 2,784 9,897 - 16,250  15,841 
Other cost of sales - 565 - - 565  146 
Licensing payments  - 25,229 - - 25,229  24,348 
Governance Costs (note 9) 418 418 418 420 1,674  1,438  
Support costs (see note 10) 7,163 4,349 1,215 1,158 13,885  14,677  

 65,928 40,192 11,530 11,010 128,660  130,485 

Of the above total £111,348k was unrestricted (2016: £109,948k), £17,312k was restricted (2016: £20,537k). 

Expenses on Digital infrastructure and technology are the operating costs associated with the Janet network, 

network related services and development. Digital content and discovery is mainly the costs associated with the 

trading activities of Jisc Collections. Digital futures expenditure relates to activities on behalf of the sector 

undertaken in a co-design process. Value realisation expenditure relates to customer engagement and 

communications activities on behalf of the sector. 

All expenditure includes irrecoverable VAT, where it has been incurred.   

9. Governance costs  

  2017 
£’000 

2016 
£’000 

Internal and external audit  224 230 
Senior management salaries  1,281 1,135 
Trustee expenses   17 15 
Support costs  152  58  

  1,674 1,438 

The costs relating to the governance function are equally apportioned between the four key charitable activities 

undertaken in the year. 
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10. Support costs of charitable activities 

  2017  
£’000 

2016 
£’000 

Wages and pension   5,348  4,160 
Travel and subsistence    441   429  
Consumables, post, printing, phone and stationery   218   264  
Computer    1,902   2,137  
Rent and rates   2,799   3,123  
Temporary staff   633   908  
Advertising    1   12  
Consultancy and training   1,812   2,708  
Insurances   18   121  
Professional fees   617   507  
Bank charges   13   78  
Bad debt   3   -    
Support service   80   159  
Exchange gains and losses   -     71  

   13,885 14,677 

Support costs of Jisc are allocated where possible directly to the charitable activity and where this direct 

allocation was not possible costs are allocated in line with the number of direct staff working in each charitable 

activity type. Wages and pension costs include a liability for paid annual leave accrued but not taken of £446k 

(2016: £573k). 

11. Grants  

 Jisc 
Technologies 

£’000 

Digital 
Resources 

£’000 

Digital 
future 
£’000 

Membership & 
Sales 
£’000 

2017 
Total 
£’000 

2016 
Total 
£’000 

       

Grants paid to third 
parties  

54 1,902 513 45 2,514 4,839 

Grants totalling £47k (2016: £153k) were made to 13 individuals (2016: 22 individuals) during the year; all other 

grants were to institutions. 

Of the total Grants paid to third parties during the year, £1,983k was unrestricted (2016: £3,241k) and £531k was 

restricted (2016: £1,598k).  

A detailed list of grants paid on a per institution basis can be found in Note 28 of these financial statements.   
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12. Net incoming resources  

Net incoming resources are stated after charging/ (crediting)  

 2017 
£’000 

2016 
£’000 

Amortisation of intangible assets 2,145 2,126 
Depreciation of tangible assets 10,242 9,155 
Exchange differences (74) (258) 
Operating lease rentals: Property 1,100 1,161 
Loss on sale of tangible fixed assets - 2 

During the year the Group obtained the following services from the Group’s auditors and its associates: 

 2017 
£’000 

2016 
£’000 

Audit of all entities and consolidated financial statements  94 107 

Total audit 94 107 
   
Tax compliance services 30 21 
Tax advisory services 23 79 

Services relating to taxation  53 100 
   
Other non-audit services 8 96 

   

Total  155 303 

13. Transactions with Trustees and the cost of key management personnel   

(a) Remuneration and benefits 

Recipient 
2017 

£ 

2016 

£ 

Professor Martyn Harrow (resigned December 2015) - 92,110 

Dr Paul Feldman 170,000 118,269 

Professor David Maguire 12,000 12,000 

 182,000 222,379 

The remuneration of Dr Paul Feldman and Professor David Maguire are for their roles as Chief Executive Officer 

and Chair respectively, rather than as Trustees. The level of remuneration has been approved by the 

Remuneration committee, and the articles of association of Jisc give express authority for their employment.  

The charity Trustees were not paid nor received any other benefits from employment with Jisc or its subsidiaries 

in the year (2016: £nil); neither were they paid for professional or other services supplied to the charity (2016: 

£nil).  
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(b) Reimbursement of expenses 

Expenses were paid to 8 (2016: 10) Trustees during the year. Below is a breakdown by expenditure type: 

 2017 

£ 

2016 

£ 

Travel and subsistence 6,891 7,576 

 6,891 7,576 

 

(c) Key management personnel 

The key management personnel of the Group comprise the Trustees, the Chief Executive, and 9 (2016: 8) 

members of Executive Leadership Team. The total remuneration and employee benefits of the key management 

personnel of the Group were £1,280,852 (2016: £1,155,196).  

14. Staff and wages 

 

In addition, temporary staff costs of £709,452 (2016: £991,006) for the group were incurred during the year. 

Staff numbers have been reported on the basis of full time equivalent hours. The number of staff and gross salary 

and emoluments of staff whose remuneration was over £60,000 were in the following ranges: 

 2017 2016 

£60,000 - £69,999 16 16 
£70,000 - £79,999 12 14 
£80,000 - £89,999 2 5 
£90,000 - £99,999 1 2 
£100,000 - £109,999 5 4 
£110,000 - £119,999 1 1 
£120,000 - £129,999 - 1 
£130,000 - £139,999 - 1 
£160,000 - £169,999 1 - 
£170,000 - £179,999 2 - 
£200,000 - £209,999 - 1 

 40 45 

  

 Group Charity 

 
 

2017 
£’000 

2016 
£’000 

2017 
£’000 

2016 
£’000 

Wages and salaries 23,368 22,994  15,875   15,771  
Social security costs 2,331 1,979  1,582   1,329  
Other pension costs 4,207 3,446  2,958   2,422  
Redundancy and termination payments 308 -  308   -    

  30,214 28,419  20,723   19,522  
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The number of staff whose remuneration was over £60,000 to whom retirement benefits are accruing under: 

 2017 2016 

Money purchase schemes 1 2 
Defined benefit schemes 38 43 

 39 45 

By activity, the average monthly number of persons employed by the group and charity during the year is: 

 Group Charity 

 2017 2016 2017 2016 

Management 62 61 57 56 
Technical 367 363 225 226 
Administrative                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                   92 91 88 87 

 521 515 370 369 

15. Intangible assets 

Group  

 Rights to electronic content 
£’000 

Cost   
As at 1 August 2016 21,337 

As at 31 July 2017 21,337 

  
Accumulated amortisation  
As at 1 August 2016 12,771 
Charge for the year 2,145 

As at 31 July 2017 14,916 

  

As at 31 July 2016 8,566 

  

As at 31 July 2017 6,421 

Assets were assessed for impairment indicators in the year. No impairment indicators were noted. 
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16. Tangible assets  

Group 

 
Network 

equipment 
£’000 

Office 
Equipment 

£’000 

Office 
Furniture 

£’000 

Fixtures 
and 

fittings 
£’000 

Website 
 

£’000 

Total 
 

£’000 

Cost        

As at 1 August 2016 33,604 1,460 579 3,331 109 39,083 

Additions   11,778   371   60   2   -    12,211 

Disposals (3,773) - - - - (3,773) 

As at at 31 July 2017  41,609   1,831   639   3,333   109  47,521 

       

Accumulated Depreciation       

As at 1 August 2016 15,963 904 253 2,106 109 19,335 

Charge for the year  9,090   335   64   753  -  10,242 

Eliminated on disposal (3,773) - - - - (3,773) 

As at 31 July 2017  21,280   1,239   317   2,859   109  25,804 

       

Net book value at 31 July 2016 17,641 556 326 1,225 - 19,748 

Net book value at 31 July 2017  20,329   592   322   474   -    21,717 

 

Charity 

 Office 
Equipment 

 £’000 

 Office 
Furniture 

£’000 

 Fixtures and 
Fittings  

£’000 

 Total 
 

£’000 

Cost         

As at 1 August 2016 2,812  826  3,812  7,450 
Additions 371  60  2  433 

As at 31 July 2017 3,183  886  3,814  7,883 

        
Accumulated Depreciation        
As at 1 August 2016 2,256  500  2,587  5,343 
Charge for the year 335  64  753  1,152 

As at 31 July 2017 2,591  564  3,340  6,495 
        

Net book value as at 31 July 2016 556  326  1,225  2,107 

Net book value as at 31 July 2017 592  322  474  1,388 
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17. Investments 

Group 

 Total  
 

£’000 

 Student Work Placement Solutions 
Limited 

£’000 

As at 1 August 2016 -   - 

Additions 350   350 

As at 31 July 2017 350   350 

 

Charity 
 Total  

 
 

£’000 

Jisc Services 
Limited 

 
£’000 

Jisc 
Commercial 

Limited 
£’000 

Student Work 
Placement Solutions 

Limited 
£’000 

As at 1 August 2016 25,389 25,139 250 - 

Additions 350 - - 350 

As at 31 July 2017 25,739 25,139 250 350 

On 30 June 2017, Jisc paid £350k for a 36.8% stake in Student Work Placement Solutions Limited. This is 

accounted for as an investment in a jointly controlled entity. 

All other investments are held in subsidiaries and Jisc holds these investments as part of its charitable activities. 

The directors believe that the carrying value of the investments is supported by their underlying net assets.  

The charity holds investments in the following company undertakings: 

 
Country of 

registration 
Activity 

% Holding of 
Issued Share 

Capital or 
guarantees 

Turnover 
 
 
 

£’000 

Expenditure, 
interest and 

tax 
 

£’000 

Operating 
surplus / 
(deficit) 

 
£’000 

Assets 
 
 
 

£’000 

Liabilities 
 
 
 

£’000 

Funds 
 
 
 

£’000 

Jisc Services 
Limited  

Great 
Britain 

Development and 
maintenance of 
the Janet network 
and connected 
services and 
provision of 
digital content for 
the education and 
research sector 

100% 44,553 (42,326) 2,227 70,845 (27,759) 43,086 

Jisc 
Commercial 
Limited 

Great 
Britain 

Provides public 
enterprise with 
access to JISC’s 
infrastructure 

100% 1,154 (1,891) (737) 524 (2,621) (2,097) 

Student 
Work 
Placement 
Solutions 
Limited 

Great 
Britain 

Provides a 
national platform 
for student work 
placements 

36.8% - - - 950 - 950 

PIB-d Limited 
(*) 

Great 
Britain 

Dormant 
company 

30.6% - - - - - - 

(*) Investments held indirectly. 
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The above turnover figure for Jisc Services Limited includes grant income from Jisc. The figures for Jisc Services 

Limited and Jisc Commercial Limited are quoted under Charity SORP (FRS102) and therefore will not correspond 

with the individual company financial statements which are prepared under FRS102.  

The registered office addresses of all charity’s investments are: 

 Registered office address 

Jisc Services Limited  One Castlepark, Tower Hill, Bristol, BS2 0JA 
Jisc Commercial Limited One Castlepark, Tower Hill, Bristol, BS2 0JA 
Student Work Placement Solutions Limited Studio 11 Tiger House, Burton Street, London, WC1H 9BY 
Personal Information Brokerage - 
Development Ltd (abbrev. PIB-d Limited) 

The Rectory 1 Toomers Wharf, Canal Walk, Newbury, 
Berkshire, RG14 1DY 

18. Debtors 

 Group  Charity 
 As at 

31/07/2017 
£’000 

 As at 
31/07/2016 

£’000 

 As at 
31/07/2017 

£’000 

 As at 
31/07/2016 

£’000 

Trade debtors  3,782  7,111   413   301 
Amounts owed by group 
undertakings 

-  -  1,124   3,889 

Other debtors   507   1,062   501  621 
Prepayments   19,021   17,423   1,344   1,138 
Accrued income  4,876   2,551   796   1,151 

 28,186  28,147  4,178  7,100 

Amounts owed by group undertakings: 

  Charity 
  As at 31/07/2017 

£’000 
 As at 31/07/2016 

£’000 

Jisc Commercial Limited   1,124   758 
Jisc Services Limited  -  3,131 

  1,124   3,889 

Included in Jisc Commercial Limited total above is an intercompany loan with a balance at the end of the year of 

£750k (2016: £500k). This loan carries an interest rate of 4% above the UK base rate and each drawing of the loan 

is repayable within 3 years of the relevant drawing date. All other amounts are unsecured, interest free, have no 

fixed date of repayment and are repayable on demand. 

In both years presented, a provision of £750k was recognised in the Charity against the amount owed from Jisc 

Commercial Limited. The Jisc Commercial Limited balances are net of this provision. 
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19. Creditors: amounts falling due within one year 

 Group  Charity 
 As at 

31/07/2017 
£’000 

 As at 
31/07/2016 

£’000 

 As at 
31/07/2017 

£’000 

 As at 
31/07/2016 

£’000 

Trade creditors   9,351   4,601   1,152   1,067 
Amounts owed to group 
undertakings 

-  -  1,211  - 

Other taxation & social security   342   1,117   654   683 
Other creditors  864   1,460   861   481 
Accruals  11,863   10,858   18,479   12,569 
Deferred Income (see note 20)  13,524   15,149   1,308   1,361 

 35,944  33,185  23,665  16,161 

Included within other creditors is an amount owed to pension funds of £341k (2016:£445k).  

Amounts owed to group undertakings: 

  Charity 
  As at 31/07/2017 

£’000 
 As at 31/07/2016 

£’000 

Jisc Services Limited  1,211  - 

  1,211  - 

Amounts owed to group undertakings are unsecured, interest free, have no fixed date of repayment and are 

repayable on demand. 

20. Deferred income  

Income has been deferred where services or goods issued to beneficiaries have not been or are partially 

provided.  In addition performance-related grants that are conditional upon the delivery of a specific level of 

service have been deferred where the conditions had not yet been met. 

 Group  Charity 
 As at 

31/07/2017 
£’000 

 As at 
31/07/2016 

£’000 

 As at 
31/07/2017 

£’000 

 As at 
31/07/2016 

£’000 

Deferred income brought forward 15,149  18,417  1,361  3,561 
Transferred from subsidiary -  -  -  743 
Released in year (15,149)  (18,417)  (1,361)  (3,561) 
Deferred in year 13,524  15,149  1,308  618 

 13,524  15,149  1,308  1,361 
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21. Provision for liabilities 

 Group  Charity 
 As at 

31/07/2017 
£’000 

 As at 
31/07/2016 

£’000 

 As at 
31/07/2017 

£’000 

 As at 
31/07/2016 

£’000 

Pension provision 5,765  5,478  5,698  5,390 
Other provisions -  410  -  410 

 5,765  5,888  5,698  5,800 

Pension provision 
The pension provision represents the group and charity recognising a liability in relation to its contractual 

obligation to contribute to covering the USS deficit.  

Other provisions 

 Group  Charity 
 As at 

31/07/2017 
£’000 

 As at 
31/07/2016 

£’000 

 As at 
31/07/2017 

£’000 

 As at 
31/07/2016 

£’000 

Brought forward 410  -  410  - 
Additions -  410  -  410 
Utilised in year (410)  -  (410)  - 

Balance carried forward -  410  -  410 

Last year’s provision was in respect of costs relating to Jisc’s restructuring of its Sales and customer relations and 

Marketing and communications directorates. The provision was fully utilised in the current financial year. 

22. Analysis of group net assets between funds  

 Unrestricted 

Funds 

Restricted  

Funds  

Total  Unrestricted 

Funds 

Restricted 

Funds 

Total 

 £’000 

2017 

£’000 

2017 

£’000 

2017 

 £’000 

2016 

£’000 

2016 

£’000 

2016 

        

Fixed assets 28,488 - 28,488  28,314 - 28,314 

Current assets 97,475 17,586 115,061  93,300 19,336 112,636 

Current liabilities (41,709) - (41,709)  (39,075) - (39,075) 

Total  84,254 17,586 101,840  82,539 19,336 101,875 
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23. Restricted income funds 

Group  

  2017  2016 
  £’000  £’000 

Balance brought forward   19,336  26,459 
Incoming resources  26,746  25,986 
Resources expended  (17,843)  (22,135) 
Fixed assets purchased and transferred to unrestricted funds  (10,653)  (10,974) 

Balance to carry forward  17,586  19,336 

 

Charity 

  2017  2016 
  £’000   £’000 

Balance brought forward   5,535  13,910 
Incoming resources  26,719  25,312 
Resources expended  (26,197)  (33,687) 

Balance to carry forward   6,057  5,535 

Restricted balances within the group are held as £nil (2016: £589k) accrued income and the remaining balance in 

cash. The cash is held within the subsidiary company bank accounts as during the financial year it acted as a 

central treasury management facility.  

Analysis of group restricted funds /donations by type of purpose:   

  2017  2016 
  £’000  £’000 

General capital funds   6,278  11,110 
Electronic infrastructure  4,052  6,022 
Regional network funds  3,721  972 
Network upgrade fund  2,719  - 
Further education project funds  614  716 
Other restricted funds  202  516 

Total restricted funds  17,586  19,336 

General capital funds are held for future capital project spend.  

Electronic infrastructure funds relate to specifically identified high bandwidth network upgrades. 

Network upgrade funds are relate to Janet’s mid-term upgrades. 

Further education project funds are restricted to FE specific capital project spend. 

Regional network funds relate nation-specific network capital improvements. 
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24. Unrestricted income funds 

Group 

 

Total General 
unrestricted 

fund 

Grant 

funded 

assets 

Paid 

prepayments 

Pension 

contribution 

Restructuring 

fund 

 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 

Balance brought forward 

on 1 August 2016 

82,539 43,851 27,433 5,983 4,872 400 

Net incoming resources (8,938) (8,938) - - - - 

Transfers to / (from)  

general unrestricted to 

designated 

- 1,092 (208) (1,060) (324) 500 

Transferred from 

restricted 

10,653 10,653 - - - - 

Balance to carry 

forward on 31 July 2017 
84,254 46,658 27,225 4,923 4,548 900 

 

Charity 
 Total 

 
General 

unrestricted 
fund 

Grant 

funded 

assets 

Paid 

prepayments 

Pension 

contribution 

Restructuring 

fund 

 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 

Balance brought forward 

on 1 August 2016 

76,388 69,803 1,225 - 4,960 400 

Net incoming resources (2,133) (2,133) - - - - 

Transfers to / (from) 

general unrestricted to 

designated 

- 663 (751) - (412) 500 

Balance to carry 

forward on 31 July 2017 
74,255 68,333 474 - 4,548 900 

The designated fund labelled “Grant funded assets” reflects the net book value of assets purchased using grants.  

The designated fund labelled paid prepayments reflects the value of the prepayments which had been paid at 

the year-end where this income had been deferred in the subsidiary Jisc Services Limited under UK GAAP. 

The pension fund is designated to offset potential additional increases in employer contributions to the USS 

defined benefit pension schemes of which Jisc is a member. 

The restructuring fund is designated for future restructuring expenditure across the group. 

25. Members Liability  

Jisc is a charitable company limited by guarantee (CLG).  The constitution allows for two classes of membership. 

One class comprises Representative Members, which includes the original members and guarantors - the 

Association of Colleges, GuildHE and Universities UK.  Each of these Representative Members holds 30% of the 

voting rights.  The other class of membership, in place from 1 August 2014, comprises Institutional Members, 
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who together hold 10% of the voting rights. The liability of each member (both Institutional and Representative) 

is limited to a maximum of £1. This liability will apply for the duration of membership of the charitable company 

and for one year beyond the end of membership. 

26. Operating lease commitments 

The Group had the following future minimum lease payments under non-cancellable operating leases for each of 

the following periods: 

 

 Group  Charity 
 As at 

31/07/2017 
£’000 

 As at 
31/07/2016 

£’000 

 As at 
31/07/2017 

£’000 

 As at 
31/07/2016 

£’000 
Land and buildings        
Not later than one year  1,133   1,204   949   1,020 
Later than one year and not later than 
five years 

 2,061   2,864   1,479   2,128 

Later than five years  275   605   275   574 

  3,469   4,673   2,703   3,722 

 

27. Reconciliation of net incoming resources to net cash inflow from operating activities 

 2017 
£’000 

2016 
£’000 

Net expenditure for the reporting period  
(as per Statement of Financial Activities) 

(35) (5,899) 

Adjustments for:   
Interest (568) (511) 
Loss on disposal of fixed assets - 2 
Depreciation on tangible fixed assets 10,242 9,155 
Amortisation of intangible assets 2,145 2,126 
(Increase) in debtors (39) (70) 
Increase in creditors and provisions 2,636 155 
   

Net cash provided by operating activities 14,381 4,958 

 

Analysis of net funds 

 As at  31 July 2017 
£’000 

As at  31 July 2016 
£’000 

   
Cash at bank and in hand 86,875 26,492 
Notice deposits (less than 3 months) - 57,995 

Total cash and cash equivalents 86,875 84,487 
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28. Related Parties  

 Jisc Technologies Jisc Collections Jisc Grant 

Income Expenditure Income Expenditure Income Expenditure Expenditure 

£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 

Abertay University 3  - - - 8  1  - 

AQA - - - - - 1  - 

Association of Colleges - - - - - 46  - 

Birkbeck College 1  - 99  10  39  1  - 

Buckinghamshire New University 41  - 33  - 23  - - 

Engineering and Physical Sciences 
Research Council 

- - - - 1  - - 

Forth Valley College of Further and 
Higher Education 

4  - - - - - - 

HEFCW – Board member 3  - - - 2,126  - - 

HESA - - - - 58  28  - 

Higher Education Policy Institute - - - - - 16  - 

Jisc Commercial Limited - - - - 178 - - 

Jisc Services Limited - - - - 18,303  -  50,551  

National Science Museum - - 7  - - - - 

National star college - - - - - - - 

Oxford Brookes Enterprises Limited - - - - - - - 

Oxford Brookes University 6  - 118  - 58  - - 

Richmond upon Thames College 2  - 5  - - - - 

Royal Holloway, University of 
London 

1  - 122  - 64  - - 

Running Deep Ltd - - - - - - - 

School of Hygeine & Tropical 
Medicine 

1  - 26  - 58  - - 

Staffordshire University 47  - 48  - 39  - - 

Student Work Placement Solutions 
Limited (Ublend) 

- - - - 1  - - 

University of Greenwich 14  9  53  - 65  3  - 

University of Hull 22  - 316  - 58  - - 

University of Lancaster 1  - 360  - 89  - 54  

University of London - - 39  - 39  - - 

University of Oxford 9  42  390  - 506  4  40  

University UK 1  - - - - 18  - 

TOTAL 156  51  1,616  10  21,713  118 50,645  
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The institutions, suppliers and customers shown within the note have been declared as interests by the Trustees 

of Jisc, members of Executive Leadership Team and the Board of directors of its subsidiaries. 

Included in the related party table above are the following transactions with Charity’s subsidiaries: 

- Jisc Commercial Limited 

During the year Jisc received £115k (2016: 183k) of income from Jisc Commercial Limited in recharges for 

providing corporate services. Jisc Commercial Limited had was also charged £63k (2016: £26k) of interest on its 

intercompany loan (please refer Note 18 for loan balances). 

- Jisc Services Limited 

Jisc paid grants totalling £50,551k (2016: £68,508k) to Jisc Services Limited during the year. In addition, Jisc 

charged Jisc Services Limited £9,436k (2016: £9,704k) of management charges under the 2015 Business Transfer 

Agreement covering costs for a variety of services. Finally, Jisc received from Jisc Services Limited £8,867k 

(£8,130k) for staff members providing services to Jisc Services Limited. 

29. Pension 

The company participates in the Universities Superannuation Scheme (the scheme). The assets of the scheme 

are held in a separate Trustee-administered fund.  The company is required to contribute a specified percentage 

of payroll costs to the pension scheme to fund the benefits payable to the company’s employees.  In 2017, the 

percentage was 18% (2016: 17%).  The  company  is unable  to identify  its  share  of  the  underlying  assets  and  

liabilities  of  the  scheme  on  a  consistent and  reasonable basis and therefore, as required by FRS 102,  accounts 

for the scheme as if it were a defined contribution scheme. However as the USS scheme is in deficit, the group 

recognises a liability in relation to its contractual obligation to contribute to covering this deficit. A provision of 

£5,765k (2016: £5,478k) was recognised on the group’s balance sheet, a provision of £5,698k (2016: £5,390k) was 

recognised on the company’s balance sheet. 

The following table shows the movement in the USS pension provision: 

 Group  Charity 
 As at 

31/07/2017 
£’000 

 As at 
31/07/2016 

£’000 

 As at 
31/07/2017 

£’000 

 As at 
31/07/2016 

£’000 

Brought forward 5,478  5,941  5,390  5,838 
Normal contributions paid in year (3,765)  (3,072)  (3,722)  (3,024) 
Deficit contribution paid (453)  (260)  (448)  (256) 
Unwinding of discount 197  196  194  193 
Pension charge for use of staff in year 3,765  3,072  3,722  3,024 
Change in expected contributions 543  (399)  562  (385) 

Balance carried forward 5,765  5,478  5,698  5,390 

The deficit contribution paid represents Jisc’s contribution to the reduction of the USS pension deficit per 

annum. 

The change in expected contributions represents changes from past expectations in calculating Jisc share of the 

liability. This includes changes in-year staff numbers and expected future wage changes due to future staff 

number changes and inflation. 
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The 2014 valuation was the third valuation for USS under the scheme-specific funding regime introduced by  the  

Pensions  Act  2004,  which  requires  schemes  to  adopt  a  statutory  funding  objective,  which  is  to have 

sufficient and appropriate assets to cover their technical provisions. At the valuation date, the value of  the  

assets  of  the  scheme  was  £41.6  billion  and  the  value  of  the  scheme’s  technical  provisions  was £46.9  

billion  indicating  a  shortfall  of  £5.3  billion. The assets therefore were sufficient to cover 89% of the benefits 

which had accrued to members after allowing for expected future increases in earnings.   

Defined benefit liability numbers for the scheme have been produced using the following assumptions: 

 2017 2016 

Discount rate 2.57% 3.6% 

Pensionable salary growth n/a n/a 

Price inflation (CPI) 2.41% 2.2% 

The main demographic assumption used relates to the mortality assumptions. Mortality in retirement is 

assumed to be in line with the Continuous Mortality Investigation's (CMI) S1NA tables as follows:  

 Male members’ mortality   98% S1NA [“light”] YoB tables – No age rating   

 Female members’ mortality   99%  S1NA [“light”] YoB tables – rated down 1 year  

Use  of  these  mortality  tables  reasonably  reflects  the  actual  USS  experience.  To  allow  for  further 

improvements  in  mortality  rates  the  CMI  2014  projections  with  a  1.5%  pa  long  term  rate  were  also 

adopted, for the March 2015 figures the long term rate has been increased to 1.5%  and the CMI  2014 projections  

adopted. The current life expectancies on retirement at age 65 are: 

 2017 2016 

Males currently aged 65 (years) 24.4 24.3 
Females currently aged 65 (years) 26.6 26.5 
Males currently aged 45 (years) 26.5 26.4 
Females currently aged 45 (years) 29 28.8 

  

 2017 2016 

Existing benefits   
Scheme assets £60bn £49.8bn 
Total scheme liabilities  £77.5bn £58.3bn 
FRS 102 total scheme deficit  $17.5bn £8.5bn 
FRS 102 funding level 77% 85% 

Civil Service pensions 

Pension benefits, for a small number of employees who transferred from HEFCE, are provided through the Civil 

Service pension arrangements.  Members may be in one of four defined benefit schemes; either a final salary 

scheme (classic, classic premium or classic plus); or a whole career scheme (nuvos). The statutory arrangements 

are unfunded with the cost of benefits met by monies voted by parliaments each year.  Pension’s payable under 

the classic, classic premium, classic plus and nuvos are increased annually in line with pensions increase 

legislation.   Employee contributions are salary-related and range between 1.5% and 5.9% of pensionable 

earnings. The rate for employers contributions range between 18.8% and 21.8%, and is charged directly to the 

SOFA. Increases to employee contributions applied from April 2013.   
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One employee is a member of the partnership account which is a stakeholder pension arrangement.  Jisc makes 

a basic contribution of between 3% and 12.5% (depending on the age of the member) into a stakeholder pension 

product chosen by the employee from a panel of three providers. The employee does not have to contribute but 

where they do make contributions the employer will match these up to 3% of pensionable salary (in addition to 

the employer’s basic contribution).  Jisc also contributes a further 0.8% of pensionable salary to cover the cost of 

centrally-provided risk benefit cover (death in service and ill health retirement). 

Group and company contributions to this scheme in 2017 totalled £68,927 (2016: £67k).  

Defined contribution  

There are two defined contribution schemes operating within the group, at the balance sheet date there were 3 

active members. Contributions within the company amounted to £23,760 (2016: £19,668) and group 

contributions were £39,020 in the year and (2016: £46,385). Contributions are charged to the SOFA as incurred.  

This includes an amount of £2,847 (2016:£2,767), outstanding at the balance sheet date. No amount of these 

defined contribution plans, or the costs of the persons holding them, are funded through restricted funds. 

Therefore all costs and liabilities associated with these plans are classified as unrestricted. 

30. Taxation 

As a registered charity, Jisc is entitled to certain tax exemptions on income and profits from investments and 

surpluses on any trading activities carried out in the furtherance of its primary objectives. 

Neither the group nor charitable company had any deferred tax assets or liabilities (2016: nil).  

31. Contingent Assets and Liabilities 

The group has contingent liabilities of £nil (2016: £nil) in relation to grant commitments and £nil (2016: nil) in 

respect of restructuring liabilities.  

The group had contingent assets of £nil (2016: £nil) in relation to capital grants. Grants are recognised when the 

likelihood of receipt is probable and all performance-related conditions have been met and the amount can be 

measured reliably. 

32. Results of the charity 

 Unrestricted 
fund 

£’000 

Restricted 
fund 

£’000 

Total  
2017 

£’000 

 Total 
2016 

£’000 

Total incoming resources 64,745 26,719 91,464  92,253 

Net (deficit) / surplus (2,133) 522 (1,611)  (3,107) 
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33. Grants Paid  

Grants paid to third parties:  

 

* Amounts paid to the University of Edinburgh are in relation to EDINA. 

 

 Digital Futures Marketing & Comms Digital resources Jisc Technologies  

 Capital & 
projects 

Recurrent Capital & 
projects 

Recurrent Capital & 
projects 

Recurrent Capital & 
projects 

Recurrent TOTAL 

 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 

University of 
Edinburgh* 

 80   -     -     -     -     1,436   -     -     1,516  

British 
Universities Film 
& Video Council 

 -     -     -     -     -     372   -     -     372  

University of 
Lancaster 

 54   -     -     -     -     -     -     -     54  

Shibboleth 
Consortium 

 -     -     -     -     -     -     -     54   54  

University of 
Leeds 

 25   -     -     -     25   -     -     -     50  

Bodleian Libraries  45   -     -     -     -     -     -     -     45  

Natspec  -     -     -     45   -     -     -     -     45  

University of 
Glasgow 

 44   -     -     -     -     -     -     -     44  

University of 
Oxford 

 40   -     -     -     -     -     -     -     40  

Other grants  
(of less than £50k) 

 173   52   -     -     69   -     -     -     294  

Total grants paid 461 52  -  45  94  1,808  -  54  2,514  


